# E.MA Awarded Theses

2010/2011



Chicken the design of the state of the state

Citatinalising Hope by the Edward Hope of the Citatinalistic of th



Criminalising Hope.
Human Rights Implications
of the Criminalization
of Irregular Immigration
in EU Member States and the EU.

Author Lidia Isabel Estévez Picon





EIUC gratefully acknowledges the contribution of the European Commission which made this publication possible

© 2012 EIUC First edition: November 2012 DOI:10.7404/eiuc.ema.20102011.02

www.eiuc.org

## CRIMINALISING HOPE HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS OF THE CRIMINALISATION OF IRREGULAR IMMIGRATION IN EU MEMBER STATES AND THE EU

A mis padres, a mi hermana y a mi abuela, porque sin ellos nada de esto habría sido posible.

I would like to thank the whole staff of the Interdepartmental Centre on Human Rights and the Rights of Peoples of Padua, especially my supervisor Paolo De Stefani. I am also very grateful to the people that I have interviewed, who very kindly gave me some of their precious time and helped me to better understand the reality of the issue I was dealing with in this research. Finally, I want to thank Angela Algeri and Mariana Pinto for helping me with the last minute corrections.

AFSJ Area of Freedom, Security and Justice

CAT Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman

or Degrading Treatment or Punishment

CERD Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination ECHR European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights

and Fundamental Freedoms

ECtHR European Court of Human Rights

ESC European Social Charter

EU European Union

EUCJ European Union Court of Justice EUMS or MS European Union Member States

EURA European Union Readmission Agreements FRA European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights

hr Human Rights

ICCPR Internation Covenant on Civil and Political Rights
ICESCR International Covenant on Economic Social and Cultural

Rights

ICRMW International Convention on the Protection of the Rights

of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families

ILO International Labour Organisation

RD Directive 2008/115/EC of the European Parliament

and of the Council on common standards and procedures

in member states for returning illegally staying third-country nationals, the Returns Directive

TCN Third Country Nationals
TEU Treaty on the European Union

TFEU Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union

TL Lisbon Treaty UN United Nations

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

		-	•	
/	1	40.444		
`		111117	36 11 16	ction

- 10 2. Analysis of the problem
- 10 2.1. Why governments decide to criminalise immigration and why is it wrong to do it?
- 19 2.2. Human rights of irregular immigrants
- 26 2.3. EU member states policies on the criminalisation of immigration
- 30 3. The role of the EU
- 31 3.1. Historical and general overview of the criminal law aspects in the EU approach to immigration
- 36 3.2. The Treaty of Lisbon and immigration
- 36 3.2.1. Main changes made by the Treaty of Lisbon in the area of immigration
- 39 3.2.2. EU competence on criminal matters and possible impact for the criminalisation of irregular immigration
- 42 3.2.3. The Stockholm Programme, the fundamental rights agency and human rights compliance in EU immigration policies
- 46 3.3. EU law and policy on the criminalisation of irregular immigration and its human rights implications
- 54 3.4. Returning irregular immigrants in the EU and El Dridi case
- 54 3.4.1. EU policies on the return of irregular immigrants
- 58 3.4.2. El Dridi case
- 65 4. Case study: Italy as a EU member state
- 65 4.1. Italian law on criminalisation of immigrants
- 73 4.2. The aftermath of El Dridi case in Italy
- 73 4.2.1. Italian judges applying El Dridi case
- 77 4.2.2. Possible incompatibility of Article 10*bis* and the Return Directive after El Dridi case
- 81 5. Conclusion
- 84 Bibliography

# CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

The trend to criminalise irregular immigrants among European Union Member States (EUMS) and the European Union (EU) entails important challenges for the protection of human rights (hr) in Europe. On February of this year the Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights decided to publish a paper on the criminalisation of migration in Europe. During the last Universal Periodic Review to Italy<sup>1</sup>, many countries also expressed their concern regarding the criminalisation of undocumented immigrants in Italy following the legislation that entered into force in 2009. These events come as a sign of the unease that this phenomenon is causing among human rights defenders and institutions around Europe and the world. This is, therefore, a current and relevant hr issue and possibly the biggest human rights grey area in Europe. Fortunately, on 28 April 2011, the European Union Court of Justice (EUCJ) issued a preliminary ruling that could bring an end to the criminalisation of irregular immigration in EUMS. However, the court has not yet confirmed this interpretation.

The term «criminalisation» of migrants refers in general to the stigmatisation of undocumented immigrants, and immigrants in general, as criminals. That is, the creation of a «culture of suspicion and distrust surrounding the movements of third country nationals and irregular migrants in particular<sup>2</sup>.» The legal part of this thesis will concentrate on the connotation that refers to the shift from administrative law to criminal law of the «offence» of irregular entry and stay of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Human Rights Council, Fourteenth session, Agenda item 6, A/HRC/14/4, Universal Periodic Review Report of the Working Group on the Universal Periodic Review: Italy, 18 March 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Cholewinski, 2007, p. 302.

immigrants. In other words, the creation of penal sanctions based on the irregular status of these immigrants that did not exist before<sup>3</sup>. This thesis will sometimes refer to this as the crime of «clandestiny.» Additionally, there will also be an analysis of the increase of criminal sanctions being imposed on individuals directly or indirectly involved in the irregular immigration process, including third parties engaged in solidarity assistance<sup>4</sup>. These offences are closely linked to the developing of EU migration law and policies and also affect irregular immigrants and contribute to the culture of distrust mentioned above<sup>5</sup>.

The analysis of this thesis will be geographically limited to the situation in EUMS and in the EU, and it will concentrate on economic migrants, also called voluntary migrants or economic refugees. Thus, it will not consider the so-called «forced migration,» meaning asylum seekers or refugees. More specifically, it will narrow its findings to the criminalisation of irregular immigrants in the EU and EUMS. It is rare to find a definition of irregular immigrant in EUMS's legislations. These laws tend to define under which circumstances a person can be considered a regular immigrant, «leaving "the rest" as potentially illegal<sup>6</sup>.» For the purpose of this research, the term «irregular immigrant» will refer to those entering or staying into the territory of a country without the required permit. As this thesis focuses on the EU and EUMS, the term «third country national» (TCN) will be used consistently to designate those immigrants that are not national of any of the EUMS. Likewise, it is important to know that those TCN that work in a manner inconsistent with their immigration status may also be included in the category of «illegal immigrant<sup>7</sup>.» This thesis will always use the terms «irregular» or «undocumented» immigrant and never «illegal immigrant,» because if a human being is defined as illegal, «the right of everyone "to recognition everywhere as a person before the law" would be violated8.»

Taking all this into account, this thesis will analyse the problem and look then for strategies and arguments to delegitimise this trend. It will mainly concentrate on the legal aspects of the subject. The first chapter

<sup>3</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Carrera & Merlino, 2009, p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Cholewinski, 2007, p. 302.

<sup>6</sup> Guild, 2004, p. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Ibidem*, p. 3. <sup>8</sup> Cholewinski, 2006, p. 4.

will contextualise the issue. First, it will try to explain why governments decide to criminalise irregular immigration, to then give an overview of the situation of the human rights of irregular immigrant and conclude with a brief analysis of the EUMS's legislation on the matter. The second chapter will study the role that the EU had and will have in this trend. It will examine the Lisbon Treaty and the consolidated texts of the Treaty on the European Union (TEU) and the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU). It will analyse EU legislation on irregular immigrants, as well as the recent judgement of the EUCJ of 28 April 2011, El Dridi case, interpreting the Directive 2008/115/EC on common standards and procedures in member states for returning illegally staying third-country nationals°, known as the Returns Directive (RD). Finally, a case study on Italy as a EUMS will be examined in the third chapter, especially on the implications that El Dridi case had on Italian legislation criminalising clandestinity.

This research was based mainly on European, national and international legal documents, as well as case-law. Articles and books on the subject, together with reports and documents by international governmental and non-governmental organisations have also been used for this study. Additionally, interviews with key actors or interlocutors have contributed to a better understanding of the subject and have helped to give some practical suggestions on the problem. Moreover, my participation in the International Workshop Countering New Legislative Proposals Criminalising Undocumented Migrants in the Netherlands: Building on Experiences of Resistance Throughout Europe, which took place in Rotterdam on 27 May 2011, has allowed me get an insight on the work that is being done by NGOs on this subject.

I have had the pleasure to interview relevant actors at the Italian level such as Italian judges Nazzarena Zannini and Lorenzo Miazzi; an Italian immigration lawyer, Marco Ferrero; and public officials of the Italian police in Padua dealing with immigration. I also interviewed actors of the international human rights arena, such as Anne Webber, working for the Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights in the theme of immigration, and Roberto Chenal, lawyer for the Italian

 $<sup>^{\</sup>circ}$  Directive 2008/115/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on common standards and procedures in member states for returning illegally staying third-country nationals, OJ L 348/98, 24 December 2008.

division at the European Court of Human Rights. Finally, I had the great honour to interview the Professor Romano Prodi, former President of the European Commission and former Prime Minister of Italy.

Finding literature on this specific subject has not been an easy task due to the currency of the events that have been analysed in this thesis, especially in relation to the EUCJ judgement of 28 April 2011. I had to keep up with all the events that have taken place from 28 April on and I have finished my research only on 24 June 2011; a day after the Italian government enacted a Decree Law trasposing the RD. However, I have tried to get ahead and I hope that this thesis may give some answers and some useful ideas also for the future.

## CHAPTER 2 ANALYSIS OF THE PROBLEM

### 2.1. WHY GOVERNMENTS DECIDE TO CRIMINALISE IMMIGRATION AND WHY IS IT WRONG TO DO IT?

In September 2008, Thomas Hammarberg, Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, issued a viewpoint entitled It Is Wrong to Criminalise Migration. In this viewpoint, the Commissioner already mentioned the existence of a trend to criminalise irregular entry and stay, as a method to control international migratory movements. It comes natural to most of us to declare that the criminalisation of irregular immigrants is wrong. But, why is it wrong? Is it only morally wrong, or are there juridical, hard law arguments that can be raised against such a policy? This thesis will try to answer these and other questions. This section will first attempt to understand the reasons why governments decide to adopt such policies in the first place, to then answer the question of why is it wrong to do it.

«Markets and politicians construct (im)migration as a political and security problem<sup>10</sup>» with the aim of creating «unity by naming a new enemy, a new threat, the migrant<sup>11</sup>.» During a period of economic growth, immigrants are considered beneficial, but when there is an economic recession they acquire a negative image and are accused of ruining the welfare state<sup>12</sup>. Already in the mid-1970s-early 1980s, during the economic and urban crisis of these years, politicians started placing migration control at the centre of public discourse regarding security.

Bigo, 2004, p. 63.
 Ibidem, p. 64.
 Ibidem, p. 70.

The aim was to find a «simple and visible "explanation" for the consequences of the side effects of their own policies of the sixties<sup>13</sup>.» Additionally, in the context of globalisation, where the role of the state has been relegated in many fields, politicians use immigration control as a way to show that they still have a say and that «at least security is their thing14.» The main risk of this induced insecurity is that «the rule of law becomes secondary to the objective of threat neutralisation<sup>15</sup>.»

This construction has also taken place at the EU level. In fact, the opening of borders within the EU was accompanied by the idea of compensating a security deficit, arguing that the removal of controls would open doors to criminals and immigrants. This discourse has been adopted as the basis for many of the recent legal provisions, converting «an extremist rhetoric into a symbolic power engaging the authority of the state16.» In particular, common policies on external borders developed as a result to the loosening of internal borders caused by the Single European Act, which established free movement of people between EU states, and the Schengen Agreement, which abolished internal border controls<sup>17</sup>. In the 1990s cooperation in this area became a priority, and with the enlargement of the EU towards certain Central European countries there was a feeling of uncertainty about the borders of EU and of fear among the EU citizens, which has been used by governments. Moreover, the process of European integration changed the «loci of control» and the target of that control. The result is that third-country nationals have become under surveillance at their country of origin, at the border and after crossing it, within the borders of the EU<sup>18</sup>.

Thus, both the EU and EUMS are promoting an artificial link between irregular immigration, which is mainly a social issue, and repressive law and practices, which includes a progressive transition from administrative to criminal law<sup>19</sup>. Politicians use measures such as

<sup>13</sup> *Ibidem*, p. 65. <sup>14</sup> *Ibidem*, p. 64.

<sup>15</sup> European Civil Liberties Network, Oppose the «Stockholm Programme»: Statement by the European Civil Liberties Network on the New EU Five-year Plan on Justice and Home Affairs, April 2009, p. 3, available at http://www.ecln.org/ECLN-statement-on-Stockholm-Programme-April-2009-eng.pdf (consulted on 15 May 2011).

Bigo, 2004, p. 74.
Boswell, 2005, p. 12.
Bigo, 2004, p. 70. Nevertheless, recent events, such as the Danish decision to re-establish border controls, may potentially change the picture of border controls in Europe.

19 Carrera & Merlino, 2009, p. 11.

the use of criminal law to show their power, as sovereign states, and their determination to ensure state control of migration. They are showing the population that they are acting to solve the real problems, that they are fulfilling their promises. Some studies say that anti-immigration «moderate» parties are more successful than extreme right or neo-Nazi parties, because voters would not support anti-democratic or too extremist parties<sup>20</sup>. Politicians can, thus, afford to make a show of being «tough» on «illegal immigration<sup>21</sup>» because as long as it only affects immigrants they won't be seen as extremist parties.

Over the years, EUMS have «embarked on a course of transforming immigration from a political question to a "technical one," by presenting it as a matter of security technology<sup>22</sup>.» This has been an incentive for European governments to progressively shift policies of justice and home affairs from the national to the European level, because «there are less constraints on restrictive approaches at EU level than at national<sup>23</sup>» and because decisions taken at this level receive little public scrutiny. Hence, it is easier for them to cover up controversial decisions in this area behind the argument of «collective decisions» or of «because Brussels says so.» Yet, today it is turning to be a political issue.

Additionally, the recent grow on the criminalisation of undocumented immigrants in the EU and EUMS can be seen as a consequence or a symptom of the xenophobic wave that is hitting Europe and that it is questioning the European project as a whole. The Commissioner of the Directorate General (DG) Home Affairs, dealing with immigration, has recently stated that «[i]t's important to see the full picture and not be taken over by populist debates in the media and in national election campaigns<sup>24</sup>.» However, as it will be seen in the second chapter, in practice, EU policies also reflect those populist debates against irregular immigration. With this attitude, Europe is committing both a «moral and an economic suicide.» First, because it is going against the values on which the EU is found<sup>25</sup>. And second, because, taking into

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Bos & van der Brug, 2010, pp. 792-793.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Miller, 2008, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Bigo, 2004, p. 71. <sup>23</sup> Boswell, 2005, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See http://blogs.ec.europa.eu/malmstrom/college-discussion-on-migration/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Article 2 TEU: «The Union is founded on the values of respect for *human dignity*, freedom, democracy, equality, the rule of law and respect for human rights, including the rights

account the European demographic trend, this attitude towards migration «will do nothing more than accelerate its decline<sup>26</sup>.»

There are two research projects financed by the EU that have studied the criminalisation of irregular immigrants in Europe. The CHALLENGE project<sup>27</sup> was a five-year project, running from June 2004 to May 2009, which studied the way in which immigration becomes incorporated into criminal law from a legal and sociological point of view. The CRIMPREV project<sup>28</sup>, running from 2006 to 2009, assessed the effects of the criminalisation of migrants in the EU, examining how certain narratives, statistics or practices of the police, judicial authorities, local governments, media and the population have led to a criminalisation of migrants in the EU. Both the CHALLENGE and CRIMPREV projects have been financed by FP6 of the DG for Research. Both studies concluded that «the present discourse favours increased (in)security practices by public authorities, describing undocumented persons as "non-rights holders" and even as "nonpersons"29 and suggested that the EU should change its official terminology. Unfortunately, the EU has largely ignored the outcomes and recommendations of these studies. The gap between EU policies on irregular immigration and EU-funded social science research affects «policy coherency» and «also undermines the capacity of EU policies on migration to add value, to meet social needs and to resolve dilemmas30.»

It is important to notice that the terms «immigrants» and «the problem of immigration» do not refer to foreigners in general but to the migration of the poor. In this sense, the project CHALLENGE claimed that the policy debate about irregular immigration is structured around a very specific category of migrants: TCN who are poor<sup>31</sup>. Terminology is a critical aspect in shaping the debate on immigration<sup>32</sup> and it affects how public policy responses are justified, developed and imple-

of persons belonging to minorities. These values are common to the member states in a society in which pluralism, non-discrimination, tolerance, justice, solidarity and equality between women and men prevail» [italics added].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Torreblanca, 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See http://www.libertysecurity.org/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> See http://www.crimprev.eu. <sup>29</sup> Carrera & Merlino, 2009, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> *Ibidem*, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> *Ibidem*, p. 13. <sup>32</sup> Cholewinski, 2007, p. 305.

mented<sup>33</sup>. The use of the term «illegal immigrants,» instead of «undocumented or irregular immigrants,» has always been criticised because «both from a juridical and an ethical point of view, no human being can be considered illegal<sup>34</sup>.» Nevertheless, the EU has constantly used terminology such as «illegal immigrant» or «to combat illegal immigration<sup>35</sup>.» These terms, followed by the use of military-type operations, have created the perception that the «EU is at war with irregular migrants and must gather all its forces to repel the attack<sup>36</sup>.» In consequence, people see irregular immigrants as constant enemies and associate them with criminal offenders, which have fewer rights. The danger of this imagery is clear<sup>37</sup>.

Moreover, taking a quick look at statistics, it is clear that the security approach taken on borders control, linked with irregular migration, is completely disproportionate and unjustified. In 2009, there were around 355 million entries of people into the Schengen area, but only 105 million corresponded to TCN<sup>38</sup>. In the first three months of 2010, there were approximately 14,200 irregular entries, 36% less than in the final quarter of 2009<sup>39</sup>. Hence, annually there are around 56,000 irregular entries, while there are around 105 million TCN entries and 355 million entries in total. Therefore, it is clear that the immense majority of entries in the Schengen area are not linked with security issues but with trade, tourism or family relations, and that the number of people seeking to enter irregularly is statistically insignificant<sup>40</sup>.

In reference to those overstaying, according to the CLANDESTINO project<sup>41</sup>, funded by the DG for Research and running from 2007 to

33 Carrera & Merlino, 2009, p. 11.

gration and Trafficking of Human Beings in the European Union, OJ C 142/23, 14 June 2002.

Cholewinski, 2007, p. 305.

Cantela & Mehlind, 2009, p. 11.

34 Solidar, Irregular Migrants Have Rights: Solidar Position on the European Commission Communication on Illegal Immigration: A Rights-based Approach to the Question of Irregular Migration, 2006, p. 1, available at http://cms.horus.be/files/99931/MediaArchive/migration/illegal\_immigration\_communication\_Solidar\_position.pdf (consulted on 25 March 2011).

35 See EU (2002/C 142/02), Proposal for a Comprehensive Plan to Combat Illegal Immigration\_communication\_solidar\_position.pdf (consulted on 25 March 2011).

An example of this dangerous dehumanisation could be the public reaction to the execution of Osama Bin Laden, considered as a non-person with no human rights. This comparison is, though, dangerous because in the case of Osama Bin Laden there was a justifiable link with criminal law, while in the case of irregular immigrants there is not.

38 Council of the EU, Results of the Data Collection Exercise Document 13267/09,

Brussels, 22 September 2009.

"FRONTEX, News release: Irregular immigration hits net low in first quarter of 2010, facilitator detections up 13%, 7 July 2010.

Guild & Carrera, 2011, p. 7.

See http://clandestino.eliamep.gr/.

2009, certain EU official documents referring to estimates of undocumented migrants in the EU are based on non-reliable sources and do not specify any time frame<sup>42</sup>. In fact, it is estimated that undocumented migrants amount to around 1% of the total EU population, and the feared substantial growth of irregular migration in the EU, upon which policies dealing with irregular immigration have been justified, has not materialised43.

Besides the terminology used, also the narrative used is important. Criminalising irregular immigration implies an increase of state powers, which usually needs some kind of a narrative that justifies it. This narrative is based on three elements: an in-group, an outsider threat and the «legitimate exercise of state power» in response to that threat<sup>44</sup>. In the case of criminalisation, these three elements are represented by the host-society and regular immigrants, the irregular immigrants and the criminalisation of TCN, resepectively. To delegitimise this narrative it is necessary to undermine one of these elements. First, the definition of threat could be easily challenged taking into account reliable statistics that deny the data given by EUMS and the EU. Secondly, the differences between the in-group and the outsider threat could also be contested. for example, because falling into irregularity is extremely easy, which means that an «insider» could at any time become an «outsider.» Finally, the purpose of the measures taken by the state could also be questioned in terms of effectiveness or proportionality, since criminalising irregular immigrants in order to prevent them from coming or making them leave the host country does not comply with any of those principles.

Criminal law and immigration law have in common that they are both systems of inclusion and exclusion and create distinct categories of people: be innocent versus guilty, or regular versus irregular<sup>45</sup>. However, while criminal law is intended to prevent and address harm to individuals and society from violence or fraud or evil motive<sup>46</sup>, irregular immigrants have only disregarded the administrative rules for regular entry and stay in a certain country, which appears to many as a «crime-

Jandl, Vogel & Iglicka, 2008, p. 5.
 Carrera & Merlino, 2009, p. 15.
 Narrative and Legitimation in the Criminalisation of Immigrants, 2011, available at http: //brokenfence.wordpress.com/2011/01/21/narrative-and-legitimation-in-the-criminalizationof-immigrants/ (consulted on 3 June 2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Stumpf, 2006, p. 380. <sup>46</sup> *Ibidem*, p. 379.

less» offence<sup>47</sup>. After the events of September 11, the connection between administrative law and criminal law increased, making it easier to justify identifying «terrorist» with «immigrant.» However, it is interesting to notice that in some cases it was immigration law taking over criminal law. This was the case in the United States, where federal officials used immigration law to detain or deport those alleged to be involved in terrorism, because it allowed them to do it based on citizenship status and ethnicity, which would not be possible within the criminal justice system<sup>48</sup>.

«The treatment of foreigners, in particular as regards their entry onto the territory and residence, is not part of the constitutional settlements but a field which is governed by state discretion and exceptionalism<sup>49</sup>.» As a consequence, this subject is very sensitive to potential human rights violations and it needs special consideration from the human rights system at the supranational level. Moreover, «administrative measures regarding entry, residence and expulsion of foreigners are not subject to the same civil liberties guarantees of due process as apply in criminal law<sup>50</sup>.» In fact, immigration law is an area of law where the consequences of poor decision-making can have terrible human rights implications for the individuals concerned. It is an area where guarantees are specially needed and where discretionary power should be very limited. However, in most countries and also in the EU, the situation is the opposite.

This last statement rises up the question of whether criminalisation could somehow be beneficial for the protection of the human rights of irregular immigrants. In fact, this was initially one of the main questions that this thesis was supposed to give an answer to. However, after having done research on the matter, the outcome is that the negative costs are so overwhelming over the benefits, that it seemed more relevant to concentrate on how to end this criminalisation. In any case, it is true that procedural rights improve during the criminal trial<sup>51</sup>, which contrasts with the lower procedural requirements in the field of ad-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Carrera & Merlino, 2009, p. 13.

<sup>48</sup> Stumpf, 2006, p. 385. 49 Guild & Minderhoud, 2006, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>0</sup> Ihidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> For example, the guarantees of due process of Article 6 of the ECHR will be applicable to the trial for the offense of irregular entry and stay, as clandestinity would imply a criminal charge against an irregular immigrant.

ministrative law on immigration. Nevertheless, these more protective rights apply only for a very limited part of the process, because, in most cases, the criminal sanction is replaced with an order of removal as an administrative measure, and the immigrant is placed in administrative detention<sup>52</sup>.

It is interesting to read the speech given by Prof. Gaetano Contento, Ordinario di Diritto Penale of Bari University in a 1996 Convention of Criminal Law Studies in Italy<sup>53</sup>. His speech refers to criminalisation as the stigmatisation of immigration around criminal conducts. He argued that, taking into account that, at that time in Italy, 99% of the immigrants that committed crimes were irregular immigrants; one could state that being an irregular immigrant facilitates the entrance in criminal circles. In that sense, he asked: what sense does it make to enact legislation that, by making regular entrance and stay harder, has the effect of making irregular immigration grow and, in consequence, makes delinquency rates grow as well?

He proposes to make it easier for immigrants to be regular creating more flexible and realistic conditions for regular entry and stay. For example, he considers that requiring immigrants to already have a job before coming to the country of destiny is only going to generate irregular migration, because this is almost impossible for most immigrants. However, what most of them have is the contact of people who live in that country and already have a job. He suggests recuperating the institution of «malleveria.» The idea would be to require immigrants to point someone already living regularly in the country of destiny to respond for his/her good conduct. The person responding for the new comer would suffer certain legal consequences if the newcomer does not behave appropriately. Although that proposal may seem very idealistic, in my opinion, the review of immigration requirements is urgent. The EU and its MS have to accept that with such strict requirements

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> In Italy, following the massive flow of immigrants in Lampedusa procedural rights in immigration processes have been in practice limited. In fact, a recent *circolare* of the Italian Ministry of Home Affairs, prot. no. 1305 of 1 April 2011, has been used to limit even more the procedural rights of the detainees, asking the lawyers to show an authorisation of the Prefetto and from the Ministry of Home Affairs in order to enter the administrative detention centres where their clients are hold. This is an example of the risks of the wide discretionary powers that the authorities have in this field, which, as it has happened in this case, violate not only internationally recognised human rights, but also Article 13 of the Return Directive, that will be explained in the second chapter.

they are only promoting irregular immigration and acknowledge that the need of immigrant labour in Europe is not covered with only the few regular migrants that they let in. Therefore, they should stop marginalising a part of society that is needed by the rest of society, because this can only have disastrous consequences.

Prof. Contento also believes, as many do, that it would be more effective to spend less money on control mechanisms and more money creating good conditions in the countries of origin, because the best way to make irregular migration lower is eliminating the reasons that force migrants to leave their country of origin. In fact, the term «economic refugee» reflects very well the situation of many irregular migrants. Therefore, creating or avoiding the destruction of jobs in their countries of origin would prevent them from looking anywhere else. Some ONGs even talk about the right to not migrate, which, in my opinion, is another name for the *right to an adequate standard of living* regulated in Article 11 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. In this sense, it could be interesting to investigate the potential extraterritorial obligations of European states in respect to that right in the countries of origin. However, this thesis will not deal with those topics because of limited time and space.

I have already mentioned some of the reasons why it is wrong to criminalise irregular immigration, but the main one is that criminalising irregular immigrants has an obvious negative impact on their enjoyment of their basic human rights. A clear consequence is an increase in the exploitation of undocumented workers. In fact, undocumented immigration provides «a continued malleable pool of low-wage workers who possess drastically circumscribed constitutional rights by virtue of their immigration status<sup>54</sup>.» Additionally, it may cause a lack of resources directed toward preventing crimes against irregular immigrants, due to the dramatic increase in law enforcement resources being brought to «fight against undocumented migrants<sup>55</sup>.» Moreover, it discourages immigrants from relying on the state for their own safety and creates an ever-growing «illegal» net around them to satisfy their needs. Criminalising irregular immigrants can also have fatal consequences for the well being of the society in the host country, in the sense that, creating an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Miller, 2008, p. 5. <sup>55</sup> *Ibidem*, p. 6.

ever-expanding population of excluded, can only fracture the remaining society beyond the imaginable<sup>56</sup>. In general, this criminalisation may justify a false presumption that undocumented migrants are not holders of rights and it blurs their high degree of vulnerability and marginalisation in the EU57.

I would like to finish this section with two examples of the rejection that this trend has caused around the world. The first one took place during the last Universal Periodic Review to Italy<sup>58</sup>, where many countries, such as Sweden, Brazil or Bangladesh, expressed their concern regarding the criminalisation of undocumented immigrants in Italy, following the legislation that entered into force in 2009. Mexico and Brazil expressively recommended to «take appropriate legislative measures to decriminalise irregular entry and stay in Italy (Brazil); to eliminate the provision criminalising irregular entry and stay on Italian territory as contained in Law No. 94 of 2009 (Mexico)<sup>59</sup>.»

The second example can be found in the Statement of the Civil Society Days at the Global Forum on Migration and Development in Puerto Vallarta, in Mexico, of last year, 2010. The participants stated that they «deplore the growing criminalisation of irregular migrants, the heavy emphasis on security, enforcement, militarisation, detention, border controls and deportation.»

#### 2.2. HUMAN RIGHTS OF IRREGULAR IMMIGRANTS

This section will make a brief review of the internationally recognised human rights that belong to everybody, independently of the person's status in the country. It will concentrate on those rights that could be allegedly violated by the criminalisation of irregular stay and entrance. The analysis will start with those international instruments affecting irregular immigrants, and then refer to some human rights instruments emanating from the Council of Europe and to the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the EU.

Stumpf, 2006, p. 378.
 Carrera & Merlino, 2009, p. 13.
 Human Rights Council, Fourteenth session, Agenda item 6, A/HRC/14/4, Universal Periodic Review Report of the Working Group on the Universal Periodic Review: Italy, 18 March 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> *Ibidem*, p. 19.

Undocumented immigrants have human rights, because «[h]uman rights are inherent entitlements which belong to every person as a consequence of being human<sup>60</sup>.» It is only possible to deny this if the migration status is used to expressly exclude undocumented immigrants from the personal scope of a certain human right provision. All international human rights instruments contain rights that are applicable to irregular immigrants, using term such as «everybody» to refer to the holder of the rights. Additionally, they all include clauses on nondiscrimination, most of which incorporate non-discrimination on the basis of «[...] other status,» which can refer to immigration status.

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International Covenant on Economic Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR) do not contain any distinction on the basis of nationality or legal status<sup>61</sup>. However, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) does limit certain rights to citizens or to regular migrants<sup>62</sup>. Every EUMS is a party to these instruments. On the contrary, the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families (ICRMW), which includes a series of rights that are explicitly applicable for both regular and irregular migrants<sup>63</sup>, has not been ratified by any of the EUMS. This refusal to accept an international instrument that specifically recognises the rights of irregular immigrant is a very negative symptom of the situation in Europe in respect to the protection of the human rights of undocumented immigrants.

Fortunately, there are other human rights instruments, besides the international bill of human rights<sup>64</sup>, that have been ratified by EUMS, and that also have been interpreted as including human rights obligations towards undocumented immigrants. This is the case of the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women, whose Committee stated that «[r]egardless of the lack of immigration status of undocumented women migrant workers, States

<sup>60</sup> PICUM, Platform for International Cooperation on Undocumented Migrants, Undocumented Migrants Have Rights! An Overview of the International Human Rights Framework, Beëlzepub, Brussels, March 2007, p. 9.

61 In the case of the ICESCR, the interpretation of the personal scope of the social rights enshrined in that Covenant has been controversial. See Merlino & Parkin, 2011(b), p. 9.

For example, Article 25 ICCPR on citizen's right to vote, or Articles 12 and 13, which expressively refer to the rights of documented immigrants.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> For example, Article 25 ICRMW stipulates that the irregular status of the worker cannot change the legal or contractual obligations of the employer.

"It includes the ICCPR, the ICESCR and the Universal Declaration of Human Rights.

Parties have an obligation to protect their basic human rights<sup>65</sup>.» In the same sense, the Committee on the Rights of the Child has specified that the rights protected in the Convention on the Rights of the Child apply also to irregular immigrants, unless it is explicitly stated otherwise<sup>66</sup>.

In the case of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD), when interpreting the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, it indicated that «[u]nder the Convention, differential treatment based on citizenship or immigration status will constitute discrimination if the criteria for such differentiation, judged in the light of the objectives and purposes of the Convention, are not applied pursuant to a legitimate aim, and are not proportional to the achievement of this aim<sup>67</sup>.» Additionally, it specified that state parties have the obligation to «[e]nsure that legislative guarantees against racial discrimination apply to non-citizens regardless of their immigration status<sup>68</sup>.»

Furthermore, the Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (CAT), which clearly applies also to irregular immigrant, includes an article enshrining the principle of *non-refoulement*, which is specifically aimed at protecting irregular immigrants<sup>69</sup>. There are other international Conventions that also include provisions specifically intended to protect irregular immigrants. This is the case of the Palermo Protocols on smuggling and trafficking to the United Nations (UN) Convention on Transnational Organised Crime. These two Protocols are also binding in the EU, so far as the provisions of the Protocols fall within the scope of EU competences<sup>70</sup>. Both Protocols indicate to have among its purposes the pro-

 $<sup>^{65}</sup>$  UN Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, General Recommendation No. 26 on women migrant workers, CEDAW/C/2009/WP.1/ R, 5 December 2008, p. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Un Committee on the Rights of the Child, General Comment No. 6: Treatment of unaccompanied and separated children outside their country of origin, CRC/GC/2005/6, 1 September 2005, para. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> UN Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, General Comment No. 30: Discrimination against non-citizens, 1 October 2004, para. 4.

<sup>68</sup> *Ibidem*, para. 7.
69 Article 3 CAT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Council Decision 2006/619/EC of 24 July 2006 on the conclusion, on behalf of the European Community, of the Protocol to prevent, suppress and punish trafficking in human beings, especially women and children, supplementing the United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organised Crime concerning the provisions of the Protocol, in so far as the provisions of the Protocol fall within the scope of Part III, Title IV of the Treaty establishing the European Community, OJ L 262 of 22 September 2006; Council Decision 2006/617/EC of 24 July 2006 on the conclusion, on behalf of the European Community, of

tection of the rights of the victims, be trafficked or smuggled persons, which are mostly irregular immigrants<sup>71</sup>. In fact, they both contain specific provisions establishing measures of protection of victims.

Moreover, Article 5 of the Protocol on smuggling states that «[m]igrants shall not become liable to criminal prosecution under this Protocol for the fact of having been the object of conduct set forth in Article 6 of this Protocol<sup>72</sup>.» Therefore, it could be interpreted as specifically prohibiting the criminalisation of irregular immigrants that have been victims of smuggling. However, state parties may try to claim Article 6. paragraph 4 of this Protocol, which says that «[n]othing in this Protocol shall prevent a State Party from taking measures against a person whose conduct constitutes an offence under its domestic law.» This could be used to say that, since irregular immigration is an offence under the state party domestic law, the state can take criminal actions against irregular immigrants, even if they are victims of smuggling.

Likewise, although not really relevant for this research, which focuses on «economic migrants,» it is interesting to notice that Article 31.1 of the 1951 Geneva Convention Relating to the Status of Refugee also forbids imposing penalties on refugees because of their irregular entry or stay.

Finally, before going into the European instruments, it is important to mention that there are also some International Labour Organisation (ILO) Conventions that protect the rights of undocumented workers. Such is the case of ILO Convention 143 on Migrant Workers, which unfortunately, has been ratified by only 5 EUMS, among which Italy. This ILO Convention is divided in three parts, and the first of them, referring to migration in abusive conditions, includes provisions that specifically protect the rights of irregular immigrants<sup>73</sup>. Additionally, other ILO Conventions also apply to irregular migrants, unless explicitly stated otherwise<sup>74</sup>. In this sense, the 2004 Resolution Concerning a Fair

the Protocol against the smuggling of migrants by land, sea and air, supplementing the United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organised Crime concerning the provisions of the Protocol, in so far as the provisions of the Protocol fall within the scope of Part III, Title IV of the Treaty establishing the European Community, OJ L 262 of 22 September 2006.

Article 2 of both Protocols.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Article 6 of the Palermo Protocol on smuggling stipulates the conducts that constitute the crime of smuggling and that should be criminally sanctioned by the states parties.

The example, Article 9.1 of Convention 143 establishes the right of irregular immigrants.

to «enjoy equality of treatment for himself and his family in respect of rights arising out of past employment as regards remuneration, social security and other benefits.»

74 Merlino & Parkin, 2011(b), p. 13.

Deal for Migrant Workers in a Global Economy stated that «[c]onsideration should be given to the situation of irregular migrant workers, ensuring that their human rights and fundamental labour rights are effectively protected, and that they are not exploited or treated arbitrarily75.»

At the Council of Europe level, subsequently, it seems relevant to first mention the Council of Europe Parliamentary Assembly Resolution 1509 of 2006 on the Human Rights of Irregular Migrants<sup>76</sup>. In this Resolution it is stated that «international human rights instruments are applicable to all persons regardless of their nationality or status. Irregular migrants, as they are often in a vulnerable situation, have a particular need for the protection of their human rights<sup>77</sup>.» Additionally, this Resolution enunciates a number of minimum civil, political, economic and social rights, extracted from various human rights instruments that should be applied by all MS of the Council of Europe in favour of irregular migrants<sup>78</sup>.

Taking this into account, the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (ECHR) and the European Social Charter (ESC) and its Additional Protocols will be briefly examined at the light of the relevance they have for irregular immigrants. Yet, also the Council of Europe Convention on Action Against Trafficking in Human Beings of 2005 is relevant, as it addresses specifically the rights of those undocumented migrants that have been victim of trafficking.

Both the ECHR and the ESC have been ratified by all EUMS. Furthermore, the EU itself is in the process of acceding to the ECHR. While the ECHR indicates that it applies to everyone within the jurisdiction of the contracting parties<sup>79</sup>, the ESC excludes irregular immigrants from its personal scope<sup>80</sup>. However, the European Committee on Social Rights has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> International Labour Conference, *Resolution Concerning a Fair Deal for Migrant Workers in a Global Economy*, Ninety-second Session, Geneva, 2004, extracted from the Report of the Committee on Migrant Workers, Geneva, 2004, p. 7.

<sup>76</sup> It is also relevant to mention the work of the Council of Europe Commissioner for

Human Rights in favour to the human rights of irregular immigrants, including a position paper on the rights of migrants in an irregular situation, CommDH/PositionPaper(2010)5, Strasbourg, 24 June 2010.

<sup>77</sup> The Council of Europe Parliamentary Assembly, Resolution 1509 Human Rights of Irregular Migrants, adopted on 27 June 2006, para. 5.

<sup>78</sup> Ibidem, paras. 11, 12 and 13.

<sup>79</sup> Article 1 ECHR.

<sup>80</sup> The Appendix of the ESC specifies that it only applies to regular immigrants that are nationals of other parties.

stated that denving medical assistance to irregular immigrants is contrary to the Charter, as health care is a prerequisite for human dignity, which is a fundamental value in European human rights law<sup>81</sup>.

Regarding the ECHR, many of its provisions have already been used to protect the human rights of undocumented immigrants; mostly, Article 3 on the prohibition of torture or inhuman and degrading treatment and Article 8 on the right to family and private life. Article 3 has been used in regards to conditions of detention, non-refoulement or for the protection of basic social and economic rights, while Article 8 has been mainly used to limit expulsion or refusal of entrance. Other articles are also relevant for irregular migrants, and may be violated by the criminalisation of irregular stay and entry and other related offences. This is the case of Article 4, on slavery and forced labour, Article 5, on right to liberty and security, Article 6 and Protocol 7, on right to a fair trial and other procedural rights, Article 14 and Protocol 12, on nondiscrimination, Articles 1 and 2 of Protocol 1, on protection of property and right to education, or Article 4 of Protocol 4, on collective expulsions.

Lastly, when applying EU law it is necessary to take into account the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union (EU Charter)<sup>82</sup>, one of the newest human rights instruments in Europe, now legally binding for the EU and the EUMS. Some of the provisions contained in the EU Charter could possibly be invoked in relation to policies on immigration. Mainly Articles 1, on human dignity, 2, on the right to life, 3, on the integrity of the person, 4, prohibiting torture and other degrading treatment or punishment, 5, on slavery, 6, on right to liberty, 7, on private life, 8, on personal data, 9, on right to marry, 14, on education, 15, on right to work<sup>83</sup>, 19, on expulsion, removal or extradition, 21, on non-discrimination, 35, on health care and all Title VI on justice. Most of these articles use the terms «everyone» or «no one» when referring to the holder of these rights, thus there is no distinction in

18 December 2000.

<sup>81</sup> European Committee on Social Rights, International Federation for Human Rights (FIDH) v. France, Collective Complaint no. 14/2003, Decision on the merits of 8 September 2004, paras. 31 and 32.

Solution Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union (2000/C 364/01), OJ C 364/1,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8)</sup> However, only the first paragraph of this article refers to «everyone.» The second paragraph specifies that only EU citizens have the right work in a MS. Paragraph 3 recognises the rights to equal labour conditions to EU citizens only to regular immigrants, contrary to ILO Convention 143.

reference to the immigration status. Unfortunately, other articles do refer explicitly to «citizen of the Union» or to regular TCN, and there is a whole section enacting «citizen's rights.» Moreover the EU Charter allows MS to restrict the application of certain articles by stating that rights are provided under the conditions established by national laws and practices<sup>84</sup>.

Article 1 on the dignity of the person and Article 21 on non-discrimination are, in my opinion, the main rights that should be taken into account when dealing with irregular immigrants. Unfortunately, they are probably the hr most frequently violated by EU and EUMS policies on irregular immigration. This is more so if stated as «equal» dignity of all people, as it is enunciated in Article 1 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, because, as it will be seen in the second chapter of this thesis, discrimination and degrading TCN into members of risk categories and numbers<sup>85</sup> is very common in the EU and EUMS immigration policies<sup>86</sup>.

Article 49 is especially relevant for the issue of the criminalisation of irregular stay and entrance. This article is named «principles of legality and proportionality of criminal offences and penalties» and its paragraph 3 establishes that «the severity of penalties must not be disproportionate to the criminal offence.»

Most of the rights in the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights which can be applied to irregular immigrants are also part of the ECHR, such as Article 19, which prohibits collective expulsions and enacts the principle of *non-refoulement*, so many times used by the European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR). However, in the EU Charter some rights are worded more broadly than in the ECHR. In fact, according to Article 52.3 of the EU Charter, for the rights that are part of both

84 Merlino & Parkin, 2011(b), p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> EUMS can decide how many regular immigrants they accept per year. The French Home Affairs Minister has even decided how many immigrants should be expelled during 2011 from France. *Guéant vise 28.000 expulsions d'immigrés clandestins pour 2011*, in «Le Nouvel Observateur», 26 March 2011, available at http://tempsreel.nouvelobs.com/actualite/politique/20110326.OBS0294/gueant-vise-28-000-expulsions-d-immigres-clandestins-pour-2011.html (consulted on 30 April 2011).

<sup>2011.</sup>html (consulted on 30 April 2011).

\*\* In the 2010 Report on the Application of the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights, the European Commission admits that there are concerns related to the respect of human dignity and other rights, under the Title on dignity, on the area of immigration. European Commission, COM(2011) 160 final «Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions 2010 Report on the Application of the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights» SEC(2011) 396 final, Brussels, 30 March 2011, p. 5.

instruments, the EU Charter can only be interpreted as giving equal or higher protection. However, the impact of these provisions will ultimately depend on how the EUCJ interprets them in particular cases<sup>87</sup>.

There is an interesting, although not very realistic, possibility to avoid the fatal consequences that the criminalisation of irregular immigrants has for the enjoyment of their human rights. The idea is to divide jurisdiction into separable sub-entities, in a way that the irregular migrant could engage welfare jurisdiction when claiming his or her basic human right, without subjecting him or herself to immigration jurisdiction<sup>88</sup>. This is somehow already happening in practice in relation to certain public officers mostly in the health or education field. However, until today, an irregular immigrant cannot go to the police to denounce a violation of any of his or her rights, such as worker rights, without fearing being detained or returned because they are irregularly in the country.

## 2.3. EU MEMBER STATES POLICIES ON THE CRIMINALISATION OF IMMIGRATION

EU legislation does not oblige MS to impose criminal penalties on irregular immigrants sanctioning their irregular entry or stay in the EU. Nevertheless, many MS have legislated in this sense and provide for these kinds of penalties in their national legislations. This section will be mainly based on the information provided by 23 of the 27 MS to the European Migration Network Inquiry on an Ad-Hoc Query on criminal penalties against «illegally» entering or staying third-country nationals, which was requested by the European Commission on July 2009<sup>89</sup>. All legislative acts mentioned in this section have been taken from this Ad-Hoc Query.

Out of the 23 MS that responded, two, Austria and Belgium, requested that the information given was not to be disseminated. Al-

<sup>Fitchew, 2008.
Noll, 2010, p. 248.</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> European Migration Network, Ad-Hoc Query on criminal penalties against illegally entering or staying third-country nationals, Requested by COM on 13th July 2009, Compilation produced on 21st September 2009, available at http://emn.intrasoft-intl.com/Downloads/prepareShowFiles.do;jsessionid=BD27082A8BAE4A52C48903CF29324459?entryTitle=illegal%20Immigration (consulted on 15 May 2011).

though the answer had to be ves or no to whether their national legislation provided for criminal penalties for third-country nationals who have «illegally» entered or who are illegally staying in their territory, the remaining states' answers could classify in three groups. The first very reduced group of states is made of those who declare not to include such provisions in their legislation. These countries are Bulgaria, Hungary, Spain, Portugal, The Netherlands and Slovenia.

However, in the case of the two latter countries, The Netherlands and Slovenia, it is not that clear. The Slovenian Aliens Act considers irregular entry and stay to be misdemeanours and it sanctions them with fines to up to 1,200 euros<sup>90</sup>. The Netherlands is currently planning to criminalise irregular entry and stay in the future law transposing the Return Directive<sup>91</sup>.

The second group of states refers to those that do not criminalise the mere irregular entry or stay, but require of an extra element for the imposition of criminal sanctions, such as the use of violence. This is the case of the Czech Republic. The Czech Criminal Code<sup>92</sup> and the new Criminal Code<sup>93</sup>, currently in force, establish criminal sanctions for those crossing the borders with use of force or threat of imminent use of force and to those who enter the country in violation of regulations of international flights. In the first case, the sanctions go from one year to fifteen years imprisonment or a fine, and in the second situation imprisonment from six months to three years. In the Slovak Republic the same conducts are criminalised94, and for the rest of irregular entry and stay, considered as misdemeanours, fines can be imposed<sup>95</sup>.

In the case of Latvia<sup>96</sup>, its criminal law<sup>97</sup> establishes only two cases in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> *Ibidem*, pp. 16-17.

Picter Boeles's contribution to the International Workshop: Countering New Legislative Proposals Criminalising Undocumented Migrants in the Netherlands: Building on Experiences of Resistance Throughout Europe, Rotterdam, Netherlands, Friday 27 May 2011.

2 Czech Act No. 140/1961 Coll. entered into force on 1 January 1962.

3 Czech Act No. 40/2009 Coll. entered into force on 1 January 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> Slovak Act No. 300/2005 Coll. (Criminal Code), Sections 354 and 357.
<sup>95</sup> Slovak Act No. 48/2002 Coll. on the Residence of Foreigners and on Amendments and Modifications to Some Other Acts as Amended, Section 76, sub-section 1, letter a) and Section 57, subsection 1, letter c).

European Migration Network, Ad-Hoc Query on criminal penalties against illegally entering or staying third-country nationals, Requested by COM on 13th July 2009, Compilation produced on 21st September 2009, p. 12, available at http://emn.intrasoft-intl.com/Downloads/prepareShowFiles.do;jsessionid=BD27082A8BAE4A52C48903CF29324459?ent ryTitle=illegal%20Immigration (consulted on 15 May 2011).

Latvian Criminal Code came into force on 1 April 1999, however both Sections 284 and 281, regulating the referred offenses, only came into force on 1 January 2005.

which criminal penalties to irregular immigrants can be imposed. The first one sanctions those immigrants that, within one year, crossed irregularly the state border more than once. The criminal penalty can amount to imprisonment for up to three years, custody, forced labour<sup>98</sup>, or a fine. The second offence refers to those who use a false identity or do not have personal identification documents and the sanction is slightly lower than that of the first offense. In Lithuania only irregular crossing is criminally sanctioned99. However, overstayers might be detained by the law enforcement institution up to 48 hours or on a court order for more than 48 hours<sup>100</sup>.

The rest of the 23 countries do provide for criminal penalties for TCN who have «illegally» entered or who are «illegally» staying in their territory, in a broad sense. These countries are: Estonia<sup>101</sup>, Finland<sup>102</sup>, France<sup>103</sup>, Germany<sup>104</sup>, Ireland<sup>105</sup>, Italy<sup>106</sup>, Luxembourg<sup>107</sup>, Malta<sup>108</sup>, Poland<sup>109</sup>, Sweden<sup>110</sup> and United Kingdom<sup>111</sup>. The specific provisions and sanctions differ among countries. Some countries use only fines as criminal sanctions against the mere irregular stay or entry, and imprisonment for «aggravated» situations, such as irregular entry with use

Article 291 of the Criminal Code of the Republic of Lithuania.

<sup>102</sup> Finnish Aliens Act (30 April 2004), Chapter 12, Section 185.

105 French CESEDA, Code de l'entrée et du séjour des étrangers et du droit d'asile / Code of entry and residence of foreigners and asylum, version consolidée au 19 mai 2011, Articles L. 621-1 and -2.

L. 621-1 and -2.

104 German Residence Act, Aufenthaltsgesetz - AufenthG, of 30 July 2004, which came into force on 1 January 2005, para. 95.

105 Irish Immigration Act 2004, Sections 4, 6, 9, 11and 13.

106 Italian Legislative Decree No. 286/1998 of 25 July 1998 as amended by Law No. 94 of 15 July 2009. Chapter 4 will go deeper into the Italian law.

107 Luxembourg Law of 29 August 2008 which concerns free circulation of people and immigration, in Memorial An°138 of 10 September 2008.

108 The Immigration Act, Chapter 217 of the Laws of Malta, and the Regulations adopted

<sup>109</sup> Polish Penal Code of 6 June 1997 (Journal of Laws 1997, no. 88, item 553), Petty Offences Code of 20 May 1971 (unified text, Journal of Laws 2007, no. 109, item 756) and Act on Aliens of 13 June 2003 (Journal of Laws 2006, no. 234, item 1694).

Swedish Aliens Act (2005, p. 716), which entered into force on 31 March 2006, in

Chapter 20, Sections 1, 2 and 4.

UK Immigration Act 1971 para. s.24(1).

<sup>98</sup> The reference to forced labour as a criminal sanction raises questions of compatibility with Article 4 of the ECHR.

<sup>100</sup> European Migration Network, Ad-Hoc Query on criminal penalties against illegally entering or staying third-country nationals, Requested by COM on 13th July 2009, Compilation produced on 21st September 2009, pp. 12-13, available at http://emn.intrasoft-intl.com/Downloads/prepareShowFiles.do;jsessionid=BD27082A8BAE4A52C48903CF29324459?ent ryTitle=illegal%20Immigration (consulted on 15 May 2011). Estonian Penal Code, Sections 258 and 260.

of violence, while other countries have chosen to use imprisonment for the slightest violation of their Immigration Acts. After the EUCJ El Dridi case, many of these laws will have to be changed to be in accordance with EU law.

It is relevant to notice that in most of these countries provisions criminalising irregular stay and entry have been introduced or modified quite recently. This shows the prevalence of this trend to criminalise irregular immigration in recent years. It is also significant that many of the countries taking part in this survey, when asked for their national provisions on criminal penalties to irregular immigrants, they also mention their criminal penalties for individuals directly or indirectly involved in the irregular immigration process. This reinforces the view of a broad criminalisation around irregular immigrants, also present in EU legislation, which arrives to the point of criminalising the mere irregular stay or the humanitarian assistance to irregular immigrants.

# CHAPTER 3 THE ROLE OF THE EU

The term «Europeanisation» characterises a wave of scholarship on the EU, which, since the 1990s, focuses on the impact of the EU in its MS from a top-down perspective<sup>112</sup>. The existence of European policies on immigration is today taken for granted, so the main focus is to see how MS applies them, and how they are affecting their domestic politics and policies. EU policies on immigration could easily be blamed for promoting the criminalisation of irregular immigration on EUMS, both because of the language they use and because of their tendency to criminalise all aspects surrounding irregular immigration. However, today the down-top perspective should also be studied, as some EUMS are putting a lot of pressure on the EU to «get tougher» on irregular migration, which may aggravate even more the situation of the criminalisation of irregular immigrants in Europe.

After a brief analysis of the history of the EU law and policies on irregular immigration, this chapter will look into the future of the EU immigration policies after the Lisbon Treaty. It intends to advance possible developments and to give arguments to contrast the criminalisation of irregular migration at the EU level. Furthermore, this chapter will also try to find possibilities of using the EU machinery to change or prevent national laws and policies that criminalise irregular immigrants. In fact, the fourth section will analyse the implication for the criminalisation trend of a specific European legislative instrument, the Directive 2008/115/EC on common standards and procedures in member states for returning illegally staying third-country nationals or RD, and the judgement of the EUCJ of 28 April 2011 interpreting this Directive.

<sup>112</sup> Ette & Faist, 2007, p. 3.

### 3.1. HISTORICAL AND GENERAL OVERVIEW OF THE CRIMINAL LAW ASPECTS IN THE EU APPROACH TO IMMIGRATION

Immigration of TCN, criminality and law enforcement have generally been closely associated within the EU law and policy on migration113.

The intention to abolish internal borders control within the European Economic Community made of immigration control a new area of European common interest<sup>114</sup>. The main idea was to create compensatory measures to the elimination of internal borders, for which some intergovernmental groups of consultation were formed. One of these groups was the Trevi Group. This group, which is considered to be the forerunner for intergovernmental cooperation on asylum and immigration between the Interior Ministries of EUMS, was first dealing with prevention of transborder crime<sup>115</sup>. This explains why, during the period of «intergovernmental cooperation,» most measures adopted on the field of immigration were generally repressive and were focused on expulsion or illegal employment.

Also in the framework of the Schengen states, migration and criminal matters were considered together. For example, the Schengen Implementing Convention (SIC), implementing the Schengen Agreement, contained 141, of 142 provisions, dealing with compensatory measures. Moreover, the Schengen Information System (SIS) is also a clear example of the close relation between immigration and criminal matters. The SIS was a common database containing alerts on objects related to criminal activities and on TCN considered to be a threat to the national security of an EUMS116.

The Treaty of Maastricht, in 1992, was key for the gradual shifting from an intergovernmental to a community approach of immigration in the field of justice and home affairs<sup>117</sup>. It made no distinction between immigration issues and cooperation in criminal and judicial matters, as well as police cooperation 118. The measures taken during this period were also mainly repressive and were again focused on prevention of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Cholewinski, 2007, p. 301.
<sup>114</sup> Boeles, den Heijer, Lodder & Wouters, 2009, pp. 397-398.
<sup>115</sup> Cholewinski, 2007, p. 303.
<sup>116</sup> *Ibidem*, pp. 303-304.
<sup>117</sup> Boeles, den Heijer, Lodder & Wouters, 2009, p. 399.
<sup>118</sup> Cholewinski, 2007, pp. 303-304.

illegal employment, facilitation of expulsion and readmission.

In 1997, after the Treaty of Amsterdam, border controls, entry and visas became part of the competences of the European Community<sup>119</sup>. In this Treaty there was finally a separation between migration and criminal and policing matters. Migration was transferred to the Community pillar, while policing and criminal matters remained in the third pillar. However, that transfer was done with modifications to the normal community decision-making procedure and the role of the Court of Justice. Moreover, unfortunately, this separation of immigration and criminal matters was not done in an attempt to dissociate immigration from criminality, but it was due to the fact that EUMS were not ready to harmonise their criminal law at that stage<sup>120</sup>.

Nevertheless, in this process of communautarisation, the UK and Ireland decided to secure Protocols opting out of these provisions<sup>121</sup> but keeping the possibility to opt-in, which they have done particularly in the field of irregular immigration<sup>122</sup>. Also Denmark decided to secure a Protocol opting out<sup>123</sup>, but as a member of the former Schengen Arrangements, remains involved in EU measures building on the Schengen acquis<sup>124</sup>, which was incorporated to the existing acquis in EU law<sup>125</sup>.

Unfortunately, the Lisbon Treaty (TL) has brought immigration, policing and criminal matters together again, turning to the unfortunate association of immigration and criminality<sup>126</sup>. For example, the Commission Decision of 21 January 2011 on adopting the annual work programme for 2011 for the specific programme on the «Prevention of and Fight against Crime<sup>127</sup>» includes as a priority «Projects on the crossborder Law Enforcement cooperation, particularly in the access to and exchange of information through the implementation of the principle

<sup>22</sup> Cholewinski, 2007, pp. 303-304

<sup>119</sup> Boeles, den Heijer, Lodder & Wouters, 2009, p. 399.

Cholewinski, 2007, pp. 303-304.
Protocol on the possition of the UK and Ireland annexed to the Treaty of Amsterdam, OJ C 340, 10 November 1997.

Protocol on the possition of the Denmark annexed to the Treaty of Amsterdam, OJ C 340, 10 November 1997.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Schengen acquis as it was in 2000 is detailed in OJ L239, 22 September 2000. 125 Protocol integrating the Schengen acquis into the framework of the European Union, OJ C 340, 10 November 1997.

<sup>126</sup> The TFEU regulate all these subjects under Title V.
127 Commission Decision of 21 January 2011 on adopting the annual work programme for 2011 for the specific programme on the «Prevention of and Fight against Crime» as part of the General Programme «Security and Safeguarding Liberties», C (2011) 131 final, Brussels, 21 January 2011.

of availability through [...] and Council Framework Decision 2006/ 960/IHA (Swedish Initiative) (Equipment for cross-border cooperation in combating terrorism, cross-border crime and illegal immigration)<sup>128</sup>.»

Some EU documents use the term «irregular immigration<sup>129</sup>» and the European Parliament has declared to prefer the use of the term «irregular,» as it considers that irregular entry to the territory of the EU does not justify the reference to illegality<sup>130</sup>. Nevertheless, the EU tends to use terms such as «illegal immigrants» and «fight against illegal immigration<sup>131</sup>.» Most international organisations, such as the Council of Europe, and many NGOs have condemned the use of those terms. This is so, because calling a person «illegal» seems to be contrary to the international and regional human rights instruments that claim the equal dignity and human rights of all human beings. Therefore, the terms generally used by the EU are internationally rejected as being contrary to human rights instruments, possibly including the now binding EU Charter.

According to the Communication on policy priorities in the fight against illegal immigration of third-country nationals of 2006<sup>132</sup>, «the term "illegal immigration" is used to describe a variety of phenomena,» which include:

1. «Third-country nationals who enter the territory of a Member State illegally by land, sea and air, including airport transit zones. This is often done by using false or forged documents, or with the help of organised criminal networks of smugglers and traffickers.» This definition seems to include victims of human trafficking as any other undocumented immigrant. The use of the word «help» to refer to what the organised criminal networks of traffickers do could be very dangerous for the protection of these victims. Moreover, these victims are protected by different international Conventions<sup>133</sup> and by EU legis-

<sup>128</sup> Ibidem, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> For example, European Commission, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Communication on migration, COM(2011) 248 final, Brussels, 4 May 2011.

130 Castagnoli, 2010, p. 5.

131 See Commission of the European Communities, Communication COM (2006) 402 final

on policy priorities in the fight against illegal immigration of third-country nationals, Brussels, 19 July 2006 or the Schengen acquis - Decision of the Central Group of 27 October 1998 on the adoption of measures to fight illegal immigration (SCH/C (98) 117).

Commission of the European Communities, Communication COM (2006) 402 final on policy priorities in the fight against illegal immigration of third-country nationals, Brussels, 19 July 2006.

133 See Council of Europe Convention on Action Against Trafficking in Human Beings

lation<sup>134</sup> and are sometimes given residence permits when they collaborate with the police to prosecute the trafficker, therefore they would no longer be «illegal immigrants.»

- 2. «Persons who enter legally with a valid visa or under a visa-free regime, but "overstay" or change the purpose of stay without the approval of the authorities.» Many times, immigrants acquire an «illegal» status because of facts completely out of their control, such as being fired, changes in the legislation, etc., or facts that would generally imply no legal consequence at all, such as missing a plane. It would seem reasonable that there was a difference in treatment depending on the circumstances that led to an irregular status. Yet, this is usually not taken into account.
- 3. «Unsuccessful asylum seekers who do not leave after a final negative decision.» The great difference among EUMS on the acceptance or refusal of asylum seekers makes this criterion very unfair. In fact, a person, whose asylum request is denied in Greece, and becomes an «illegal immigrant» in the whole EU territory, could be in more need of asylum than a person whose request was accepted in Finland. Asylum criteria should be urgently further harmonised to avoid more unjust outcomes.

The DG in the European Commission dealing with immigration is the DG for Home Affairs, which was created on 1 July of last year, together with the DG for Justice. Before that date, they were only one DG: DG for Justice, Freedom and Security. This division was done because of the increasing importance of policies related to this area in the work of the EU, especially in the field of migration.

According to the website of the DG for Home Affairs, this DG has two main priorities: «ensuring European security and [...] putting solidarity at the heart of the European migration policy<sup>135</sup>,» and the Stockholm Action Plan is stated to constitute the roadmap to imple-

<sup>134</sup> See the recent Directive 2011/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 April 2011 on preventing and combating trafficking in human beings and protecting its victims.

135 See http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/index\_en.htm, website of DG for Home Affairs.

<sup>(</sup>Warsaw, 16 May 2005, entry into force on 1 February 2008) or Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organised Crime (adopted by General Assembly Resolution 55/25 of 15 November 2000).

ment these priorities. The DG for Home Affairs is subdivided in three Directorates <sup>136</sup>. Directorate A deals with internal security, while Directorates B and C deal with issues related to policies on migration, asylum and borders checks<sup>137</sup>. Directorate B is under the name Immigration and Asylum, and includes the issues of immigration and integration, asylum and visa policy. Directorate C tackles the issue of migration and borders, which comprises border management and return policy, IT projects and large-scale IT-systems and biometrics.

There are two entire departments dealing with IT systems in Directorate C. The Amended Proposal for a Regulation establishing an Agency for the operational management of large-scale IT systems in the area of freedom, security and justice<sup>138</sup> is based on Articles 77(2)(a) and (b), 78(2)(e), 79(2)(c), 74, 82(1)(d) and 87(2)(a) of the TFEU. This includes matters of administrative cooperation, visas, asylum and measures of irregular immigration, as well as measures related to judicial cooperation on criminal matters and police cooperation. This proves that, although it seems that migration policies are separated from security issues, Directorate C combines both matters. It also reflects the allocation of resources and the real priorities of the EU regarding migration policies. Indeed, the large importance given to IT systems and biometrics in the field of migration contributes to narrow the gap between law enforcement and migration control. Moreover, the compatibility of these systems with Article 8 of the ECHR<sup>139</sup> or Article 8 of the EU Charter, in particular in reference to the access of the collected data by law enforcement officials, has already been questioned.

Nevertheless, it should be noticed that Commission DGs have adopted different approaches to irregular migration that are not necessarily compatible <sup>140</sup>. Although the approach of the DG for Home Affairs is the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> There is also an Anti-Trafficking Coordinator, which should be regarded as a positive sign of the importance given to this issue at EU level.

<sup>137</sup> These two Directorates correspond to the issues dealt with in Chapter 2, Title V TFEU.
138 European Commission, Amended Proposal for a Regulation of the EP and of the
Council on establishing an Agency for the operational management of large-scale IT systems in the area of freedom, security and justice, COM(2010)93 final, 2009/0089/P (COD),
Brussels, 19 March 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Opinion of the European Data Protection Supervisor on the Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council concerning the Visa Information System and the exchange of data between Member Sates on short-stay visas, COM (2004) 835 final, OJ C 181/13, 23 July 2005. A potential violation of Articles 7 and 8 of the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights could also be claimed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> Merlino & Parkin, 2011(a), p. 11.

prevailing one, other DGs, such as DG for Employment, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities or DG for Health and Consumer Protection include undocumented immigrants as target in policy intervention, as a vulnerable group. Hence, the right approach already exist within the EU, however, so far, it is only rarely reflected in EU policies.

## 3.2. THE TREATY OF LISBON AND IMMIGRATION

# 3.2.1. Main Changes Made by the Treaty of Lisbon in the Area of Immigration

The Treaty of Lisbon entered into force on 1 December 2009 and it has expanded the EU competences on the field of immigration. The policies on immigration and asylum are now contained within Title V TFEU, entitled «The Area of Freedom, Security and Justice» (AFSI). This area is of shared competence between the EU and the MS<sup>141</sup>. Accordingly, it is subjected to the principles of subsidiarity and proportionality<sup>142</sup>. Article 72 TFEU states that the exercise of the responsibilities of the MS with regard to the maintenance of law and order and the safeguarding of internal security are not affected by Title V TFEU. This could be interpreted as allowing MS to derogate from EU legislation in this area if it is necessary for one of the above objectives, as they have been interpreted by the EUCJ<sup>143</sup>. The EU should develop common policies for asylum and legal as well as illegal immigration<sup>144</sup>, which is a big change from the previous TCE145. In this sense, the EU can now legislate for «uniform standards,» and not any more «minimum standards146.»

The EU can adopt measures on «illegal» immigration, including removal and repatriation of unauthorised residents. Although, the explicit mention to «removal» is new, the practice of the EU was interpreting the previous provision as including removal as well<sup>147</sup>. It

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> Article 4.2(j) TFEU and Article 3.2 TEU.
<sup>142</sup> Article 5 TEU.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> Favilli, 2009, p. 3.

<sup>144</sup> Articles 67.2 and 79.1 TFEU.

<sup>145</sup> Favilli, 2009, p. 2.

<sup>146</sup> Fitchew, 2008.

Hailbronner, 2010, p. 3. A clear example of this is the enactment of the RD in 2008.

also has competence to legislate, among other aspects, for the gradual introduction of an integrated management system for external borders and to define all the rights of third-country immigrants legally resident in one MS148. Moreover, it can conclude European Union Readmission Agreements and establish measures to promote integration of regular immigrants<sup>149</sup>. From now on the European Parliament must give its consent to Readmission Agreements<sup>150</sup>. However, MS have kept the right to decide how many TCN are they prepared to admit into their territory in order to seek work<sup>151</sup>.

On the procedural aspects, the TL introduced co-decision and qualified majority over all asylum and immigration decision<sup>152</sup>, meaning, ordinary legislative procedure, for both «illegal» and legal immigration policies<sup>153</sup>. The European Commission is the only organ that can make legislative proposals on this field. According to Article 68 TFEU, the European Council should define the strategic guidelines for legislative and operational planning within this area. For the period 2009-2014, the Council has approved the Stockholm Programme, which will be analysed later in this chapter.

The LT has also removed the limitations that the EUCI had on the field of immigration and asylum imposed by the Treaty of Amsterdam, which required cases on this field to be taken first to the highest court of a EUMS, before they could be brought to the EUCI. According to Article 267 TFEU, the EUCI has jurisdiction to give preliminary rulings concerning the interpretation of the Treaties and the validity and interpretation of acts of the institutions, bodies, offices or agencies of the EU, including those acts adopted in the field of immigration, such as the RD.

On this basis, any national court or tribunal applying EU law or national law that executes or is within the scope of application of EU law, can request the EUCI to give a preliminary ruling if it considers it necessary in order to give a judgment. If it is a national court or tribunal

<sup>148</sup> Articles 77.1(c) and 79.2(b) TFEU.

<sup>149</sup> Articles 79.3 and 79.4 TFEU.

<sup>150</sup> Article 218.6 TFEU. 151 Article 79.5 TFEU.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> According to Article 77.3 TFEU, the special legislative procedure will only be applied to adopt provisions concerning passports, identity cards, residence permits or any other such document.

153 Articles 288, 289 and 294 TFEU.

against whose decisions there is no judicial remedy under national law. then it will have to bring the matter to the EUCI. If the question refers to a case referring to a person in custody, the EUCI will have act with the minimum of delay<sup>154</sup>. The judgement of the EUCJ in El Dridi case, giving a preliminary ruling on the interpretation of the RD, will be analysed later in this chapter.

Moreover, the EUCI, in application of Article 263 TFEU, has also jurisdiction to review the legality of most of the acts of EU institutions and bodies intended to produce legal effects vis-a-vis third parties, including those of the European Council. Natural or legal persons can institute proceedings against acts addressed to them or that directly concerns them and against a regulatory act, not entailing implementing measures, which is of direct concern to them. These possibilities may be relevant for the fight against the criminalisation of irregular immigrants. in the sense that, if one if these acts is related to the issue of criminalisation, it could be brought in front of the EUCI for violating the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights or general principles of EU law.

Article 258 TFEU stipulates that if the Commission considers that a MS has failed to fulfil an obligation under the Treaties, for example, it has failed to fulfil its obligation to notify measures transposing a Directive adopted under a legislative procedure, «it shall deliver a reasoned opinion on the matter after giving the state concerned the opportunity to submit its observations.» In the case that the MS does not comply with this opinion, then the Commission can bring the matter before the EUCI. As it will be studied later in this chapter, many MS have not vet transposed the RD, which may cause that the European Commission starts the procedure described in this article against one of these MS.

However, for the matters of judicial cooperation for criminal matters and police cooperation<sup>155</sup>, the EUCI has no jurisdiction «to review the validity or proportionality of operations carried out by the police or other law-enforcement services of a member state or the exercise of the responsibilities incumbent upon member states with regard to the maintenance of law and order and the safeguarding of internal security<sup>156</sup>.» As it was said before, this allows MS to derogate from EU law on

<sup>154</sup> Preliminary rulings can be dealt with under an urgent procedure, in accordance with Article 104b of the Court's Rules of Procedure.

<sup>155</sup> Chapters 4 and 5 of Title V TFEU. 156 Article 276 TFEU.

immigration under Article 72 TFEU and not to be controlled by the EUCJ. In general, as a transitional measure, for the field of judicial cooperation for criminal matters and police cooperation, the jurisdiction of the EUCI will keep the restrictions it had before the LT for 5 years, starting on 1 December 2009.

The TL has a potentially relevant effect on the protection of human rights in the EU: it made the EU Charter legally binding<sup>157</sup> and directly enforceable by the EU and national Courts and provided for the accession of the EU to the ECHR<sup>158</sup>. The EU Charter is now part of national law and, according to Article 51.1 of the EU Charter, it can be directly enforceable in national courts if cases involve the application of EU law. For example, it is now possible to challenge the way a MS has implemented EU law in the MS's own courts and the national judge will have to enforce directly the rights guaranteed by the Charter<sup>159</sup>. Moreover, the EU Charter can be used by EU institutions and bodies to measure their own performance, and the performance of MS when implementing EU law into national law. Certain provisions of the Charter could be invoked to defend the rights of irregular immigrants. However, the 2010 Report on the Application of the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights by the European Commission has only one paragraph<sup>160</sup>, out of 10 pages, which refers to the human rights concerns in the area of immigration. This is definitely not a good sign of the potential benefits of the EU Charter for the respect of irregular immigrants' human right in the EU.

# 3.2.2. EU Competence on Criminal Matters and Possible Impact for the Criminalisation of Irregular Immigration

The inclusion of the matters of judicial and police cooperation on criminal matters in Title V TFEU, as a shared competence, and therefore expressively allowing the EU to legislate on criminal matters, can also have relevant consequences for irregular immigration. Before the

See http://www.eucharter.org/home.php?page\_id=66, Guide on the Charter of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> Article 6.1 TEU. <sup>158</sup> Article 6.2 TEU.

Fundamental Rights of the European Union.

160 European Commission, COM(2011) 160 final «Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions 2010 Report on the Application of the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights» SEC(2011) 396 final, Brussels, 30 March 2011.

TL, the EU did not have the competence to enact hard law measures with direct criminal effects<sup>161</sup>. However, since 2003, following a series of decisions of the EUCJ<sup>162</sup>, it was clear that the EU could enact instruments including criminal sanctions in the pursuit of objectives of the European Community<sup>163</sup>. Even before, there were many instruments, linked to policies on irregular migration, which permitted or encouraged the use of criminal sanctions and there were also measures adopted in the form of Framework Decisions under the third pillar<sup>164</sup>. For example, Council Directive 2001/51/EC<sup>165</sup> strengthening the sanctions of carriers accused of assisting foreigners, or Council Framework Decision 2002 on combating trafficking in human beings<sup>166</sup>, which defined the offence and established which criminal penalties should be imposed. Most of these measures asked MS to adopt appropriate penalties that are dissuasive, effective and proportionate.

The first hard law measure to explicitly include criminal sanctions in the EU's AFSJ was the Directive 2009/52/EC providing for minimum standards on sanctions and measures against employers of illegally staying third-country nationals<sup>167</sup>, adopted some months before the entry into force of the TL. This instrument is aimed at «fighting against illegal immigration<sup>168</sup>»; it defines the criminal offense of employment of irregular immigrants and asks for criminal sanctions to be imposed on the offenders.

Taking this into account, this paragraph will formulate a hypothesis that could be key in the subject of the criminalisation of irregular immigrants in the EU. According to Article 79 TFEU, the EU should develop a common policy aimed at the «prevention of, and enhanced

Leg See, for example, EUCJ, Commission v. the Council, C-176/03, 13 September 2005, \$\$7.48

166 Council Framework Decision (2002/629/JHA) of 19 July 2002 on combating trafficking physics, OLL 203, 1 August 2002

<sup>168</sup> *Ibidem*, Article 1.

<sup>161</sup> Epidendio, 2011.

Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, Criminalisation of Migration in Europe: Human Rights Implications, Issue Paper commissioned and published by Thomas Hammarberg, Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, Strasbourg, 4 February 2010, CommDH/IssuePaper (2010)1, p. 28.

<sup>164</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> Council Directive 2001/51/EC of 28 June 2001 supplementing the provisions of Article 26 of the Convention Implementing the Schengen Agreement of 14 June 1985, OJ L 187/46, 10 July 2001.

in human beings, OJ L 203, 1 August 2002.

167 Directive 2009/52/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 June 2009 providing for minimum standards on sanctions and measures against employers of illegally staying third-country nationals, OJ L 168/24, 30 June 2009.

measures to combat, illegal immigration [...].» Article 82 TFEU, on the other side, allows for the enactment of Directives establishing minimum rules with regard to the definition of criminal offences and sanctions in the areas where the approximation of criminal laws and regulations of the MS proves essential to ensure the effective implementation of a EU policy in an area that has been subject to harmonisation measures, such as «illegal immigration.» Therefore, theoretically, the EU could enact a Directive defining irregular stay and entry in any MS as a crime. The enactment of such a Directive seems even likely if we take into account that a big number of EUMS, including countries such as Germany, France or the UK, already criminalise irregular entry and stay<sup>169</sup>.

Moreover, there is another element that could unfortunately reinforce this hypothesis, which can be found in the Council Framework Decision of 28 November 2002 on the strengthening of the penal framework to prevent the facilitation of unauthorised entry, transit and residence<sup>170</sup>. In theory, this Framework Decision only targets the facilitation of irregular entry and stay, but not the irregular stay and entry themselves. However, there is a provision stating that this Framework Decision «shall apply without prejudice to the protection afforded refugees and asylum seekers [...], in particular, Member States' compliance with their international obligations pursuant to Article 31171 » of the Geneva Refugee Convention. As it was said before, Article 31 of the Geneva Convention requires states parties not to impose penalties on refugees based on their irregular entry or presence. Therefore, this provision could imply that MS may as well criminalise the irregular entry and stay of immigrants, except if they are refugees. It appears that the EU understood the risk that criminalising the facilitation of irregular entry and stay could likely lead EUMS to also criminalise irregular stay and entry, and decided to remind MS about their obligations under international law towards refugees.

This hypothesis could be of great relevance for the issue of the criminalisation of immigrants, and it would worsen even more the situation of irregular immigrants in Europe. However, it should be

<sup>169</sup> The respect for the principle of subsidiarity, in the sense of Article 5 TEU, could prevent this move.

171 Ibidem, Article 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> Council Framework Decision of 28 November 2002 on the strengthening of the penal framework to prevent the facilitation of unauthorised entry, transit and residence, (2002/946/JHA), OJ L 328/1, 5 December 2002.

noticed that if irregular stay and entry were regulated at the EU level, then the EUCJ would be able to make a decision on the compatibility of this «offence» with the EU Charter. If the EUCJ considered the offence of clandestiny contrary to the EU Charter, then it would affect all EUMS. Moreover, after the EU accession to the ECHR, also the ECtHR could judge on the compatibility with the ECHR. In that sense, this hypothesis could even be positive for the fight against the criminalisation of irregular immigrants in Europe because it would concentrate the efforts on one EU instrument, instead on each MS individually.

The first provision that could be alleged against a possible EU instrument defining the offence of «clandestinity» is Article 67.1 TFEU, stating that the «Union shall constitute an area of freedom, security and justice with respect for fundamental rights and the different legal systems and traditions of the Member States.» Indeed, to avoid such criminalisation, reference should be made to the respect of the legal systems of those MS that *do not* criminalise «clandestinity» and the respect for those fundamental rights that criminalisation can violate by itself or because of the effects it has in practice. For example, it can be argued that the criminalisation of irregular immigrants leads to racist and xenophobic behaviours. In this sense Article 67.3 TFEU is also relevant, because, when talking about a high level of security in Europe, it states that the EU should also take measures to prevent and combat racism and xenophobia.

# 3.2.3. The Stockholm Programme, the Fundamental Rights Agency and Human Rights Compliance in EU Immigration Policies

In December of 2009, the European Council, following on the mandate given to it by Article 68 TFEU, defined the strategic guidelines for legislative and operational planning within the AFSJ for the years 2009-2014. These guidelines were adopted under the name *The Stockholm Programme: An Open and Secure Europe Serving and Protecting Citizens*<sup>172</sup>. This Programme, continuing on from the Tampere and Hague Programmes, is the first to be adopted under the LT and it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Council of the European Union, (2010/C 115/01), *The Stockholm Programme: An Open and Secure Europe Serving and Protecting Citizens*, 5731/10, Brussels, 3 March 2010, OJ C115/1, 4 May 2010.

implements the provisions of the new consolidated texts in this area. It is, therefore, very relevant for the object of this thesis to analyse how this Programme deals with the issue of «clandestinity,» since it defines the position that the EU will take until 2014 when acting on the matter of irregular immigration.

The Stockholm Programme has been criticised because of the emphasis on reducing irregular immigration<sup>173</sup>, alledging «the EU faces an increasing pressure from illegal migration flows<sup>174</sup>.» The Programme establishes certain measures to «more effectively» combat irregular immigration, such as a growing role of the EU border patrol, FRON-TEX, or a focus on data systems to allow checks of those entering the EU. However, these allegations to justify harsher measures on the «fight against illegal immigration» are usually not accompanied with data illustrating the reality of that «threat.» In fact, as it was seen in the first chapter, data would suggest the opposite. In general, it can be stated that «[t]he control-oriented approach on irregular migration, which is based on criminalisation, return and readmission, has been the prevalent one in the Stockholm Programme<sup>175</sup>.»

In terms of hr protection, the general wording of the Stockholm Programme is positive. Indeed, it considers «promoting citizenship and fundamental rights» as one of the political priorities of the EU in the AFSI. It states that the AFSI «must, above all, be a single area in which fundamental rights and freedoms are protected176.» Moreover, it recognises the special needs of vulnerable people and the fact that the rights of «citizens of the Union and other persons» should also be exercised outside the EU177. However, when it comes to the specific objectives and actions, it is not that clear how these rights will be prioritised.

The Stockholm Programme makes reference to the accession of the EU to the ECHR as being «a matter of urgency<sup>178</sup>.» Moreover, the Council invites all EU institutions and MS «to ensure that legal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> EU: Stockholm, Population, Discrimination, in «Migration News», vol. 17, no. 1, January 2010, available at http://migration.ucdavis.edu/mn/comments.php?id=3573\_0\_4\_0 (consulted on 8 June 2011).

<sup>174</sup> The Stockholm Programme (2010/C 115/01), p. 5.
175 Merlino & Parkin, 2011(a), p. 10.
176 The Stockholm Programme (2010/C 115/01), p. 4.

<sup>177</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>178</sup> *Ibidem*, p. 8.

initiatives are and remain consistent with fundamental rights and freedoms [...] strengthening the application of the methodology for a systematic and rigorous monitoring of compliance with the European Convention and the rights and freedoms set out in the Charter of Fundamental Rights<sup>179</sup>.» This is a very positive statement but, again, it still needs to be implemented in practice.

The Stockholm Programme asks, therefore, for a continuous monitoring or checking of the compatibility of EU legislation with hr. This could imply that if the implementation of EU legislation already in force turns out to be contrary to hr, that legislation should be revised. In this sense, it is important to look for possible interpretations of criminalisation as going against the EU Charter or the ECHR to possibly reverse Directives such as Directive 2009/52/EC on sanctions and measures against employers of illegally staying third-country nationals.

Moreover, arguments of potential hr violations should also be found to avoid that the EU uses in the future its new competence in criminal law to adopt legislation criminalising «clandestinity.» If it could be proven, for example with statistics 180, that the criminalisation of irregular immigrants raises racist and xenophobic attitudes as well as acts of discrimination 181 against regular migrants or European citizens, then these laws could be consider to be violating the EU Charter and the ECHR, or even the EU Directive on equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin 182. The ECtHR, in the case *D.H. and Others v. the Czech Republic*, has already accepted the use of statistics to prove discrimination 183.

on 1 June 2011).

181 Referring, for example, to indirect discrimination, understood as discrimination that occurs where the law is not necessarily targeted at a particular group, yet it has the unjustified effect of unfairly burdening or penalising the members of that group.

182 Directive 2000/43/EC implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin, OJ L 180, 19 July 2000. It should be noticed that, unfortunately, according to Article 3.2, the Directive «is without prejudice to provisions and conditions relating to the entry into and residence of third-country nationals and stateless persons on the territory of Member States, and to any treatment which arises from the legal status of the third-country nationals and stateless persons concerned.» Therefore, discrimination against immigrants is somehow considered legitimate.

status of the third-country nationals and stateless persons concerned.» Therefore, discrimination against immigrants is somehow considered legitimate.

183 ECtHRD, D.H. and Others v. Czech Republic, 57325/00, Council of Europe: European Court of Human Rights, 7 February 2006. Also ECtHR, N. v. SWEDEN, 23505/09, Council

of Europe: European Court of Human Rights, 20 July 2010, para. 58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> The Stockholm Programme (2010/C 115/01), p. 8.

<sup>180</sup> See The European Union Fundamental Rights Agency, European Union Minorities and Discrimination Survey, Data In Focus Report 4: Police Stops and Minorities, Vienna, 2010, available at http://fra.europa.eu/fraWebsite/attachments/EU-MIDIS-police.pdf (consulted on 1 June 2011).

In this sense, it is relevant to keep in mind the potentiality of the European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (FRA). This agency's main tasks are collecting data on fundamental rights, conducting research and analysis and providing advice on these issues. Its importance in the field of hr protection in the area of immigration and asylum in the EU is also evident taking into account that at least four of its nine thematic areas are directly related to this field<sup>184</sup>. Moreover, in the Stockholm Programme, the Council of the European Union calls on the EU institutions to «make full use of the expertise of the European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights and to consult, where appropriate, with the Agency, in line with its mandate, on the development of policies and legislation with implications for fundamental rights<sup>185</sup>.»

One sign of the positive effect that this agency could have in the fight against the criminalisation of «clandestinity» is the terminology used, in the sense that, while in general the EU uses the term «illegal immigrant,» the FRA uses «irregular immigrants<sup>186</sup>.» Additionally, in the FRA Opinion on The Stockholm Programme and other documents, it makes important recommendations that go against the criminalisation in the broader sense, such as to make compulsory the clause of Article 1.2 of the Council Directive defining the facilitation of unauthorised entry, transit and residence, which excludes sanctioning humanitarian activities directed to irregular immigrants<sup>187</sup>.

Moreover, the FRA has already elaborated statistics related to EU and EUMS legislation on irregular immigration. These statistics could be used as evidence of their negative effects on racial and ethnic dis-

<sup>184</sup> Council Decision of 28 February 2008 implementing Regulation (EC) No. 168/2007 as regards the adoption of a Multi-annual Framework for the European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights for 2007-2012, (2008/203/EC), OJ L 063, 7 March 2008, established that the thematic areas of the FRA, are: a) racism, xenophobia and related intolerance; b) discrimination based on sex, race or ethnic origin, religion or belief, disability, age or sexual orientation and against persons belonging to minorities and any combination of these grounds (multiple discrimination); c) compensation of victims; d) the rights of the child, including the protection of children; e) asylum, immigration and integration of migrants; f) visa and border control; g) participation of the EU citizens in the Union's democratic functioning; h) information society and, in particular, respect for private life and protection of personal data; and i) access to efficient and independent justice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> The Stockholm Programme (2010/C 115/01).

<sup>188</sup> The Stockholm Programme (2010/C 115/01).

186 The European Union Fundamental Rights Agency, The Stockholm Programme: A Chance to Put Fundamental Rights Protection Right in the Centre of the European Agenda, Vienna, 14 July 2009, p. 10, available at http://www.fra.europa.eu/fraWebsite/attachments/FRA-comments-on-Stockholm-Programme.pdf (consulted on 31 May 2011).

187 Council Directive 2002/90/EC of 28 November 2002 defining the facilitation of unauthorised entry, transit and residence, in OJ L 328, 5 December 2002.

crimination<sup>188</sup> and xenophobia<sup>189</sup>. Therefore, the expertise of the FRA and its role as adviser to policy-makers of the EU could play an important role in avoiding a criminalisation of irregular entry and stay at the EU level and even reversing the already existing legislations dealing with the criminalisation in a broad sense.

As it was said before, the EU needs to change its approach to immigration to a clear right-based approach 190 that avoids fuelling the increasing criminalisation of irregular immigrants. In order to reverse the trend, this approach should include detailed rules on procedural and substantive guarantees and clearly establish the rights of TCN, including those of irregular immigrants. Moreover, the principle of nondiscrimination should be appropriately applied, following Article 21 of the EU Charter, avoiding unjustifiable and disproportionate exceptions, with close scrutiny by the EUCJ. It is necessary to create a common EU policy on regular migration for labour purposes, which intends to avoid the current precarious status of regular migrants<sup>191</sup>, who risk to fall into irregularity at any moment following the numerous legislative changes at national level<sup>192</sup>.

<sup>188</sup> In the 2010 Report on the Application of the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights, the European Commission expressed its concern for the respect for non-discrimination on various grounds, including race, and based this concern on data provided by the FRA. European Commission, COM(2011) 160 final «Report from the Commission to the European

European Commission, COM(2011) 160 final «Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions 2010 Report on the Application of the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights» SEC(2011) 396 final, Brussels, 30 March 2011, p. 6.

189 For example, in *The Stockholm Programme* (2010/C115/01), p. 11, the FRA recommends to «ensure that implementation of the Employers' Sanctions Directive does not result in cumbersome procedures discouraging employers from considering job applications submitted by migrants. The recent survey carried out by the FRA revealed that 22% of Sub-Saharan African respondents and 18% of North African respondents experienced discrimination when looking for work or at work in the past 12 months.»

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> Cholewinski, 2007, p. 334.

EU, Proposal of a Council Directive, COM (2007) 638 final, on a single application procedure for a single permit for third-country nationals to reside and work in the territory of a member state and on a common set of rights for third-country workers legally residing in a member state, 2007/0229 (CNS), Brussels, 23 October 2007, could potentially be a good step in this direction. However, it is unfortunate that it excludes from its application many categories of immigrants, such as refugees and also that it allows for so many aspects to be decided by MS, such as, the conditions under which it is granted, renewed or cancelled.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Cholewiński, 2007, p. 334.

# 3.3. EU LAW AND POLICY ON THE CRIMINALISATION OF IRREGULAR IMMIGRATION AND ITS HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

During many years, the EU has created legislation that criminalised almost all activities related to irregular immigration, creating circles of criminal law around irregular immigrants. However, national legislation has taken a step forward and has decided to fill in that centre part, criminalising also the irregular immigrant as such. They have ended the hypocrisy of criminalising the smuggling of undocumented immigrants. the employment of these immigrants, etc., putting the irregular immigrant as the victim of such crimes, when the real purpose was not to protect the immigrant, but to make it impossible for them to arrive or to have a decent life in Europe. In this section I will analyse EU law and policies that affect the criminalisation of irregular immigrants in a broad sense.

EU policies on external border controls, visas and, in general, the prevention of irregular immigration, treat TCN as members of risk categories<sup>193</sup>. In fact, the project CRIMPREV reported that several police actions are based on constructed stereotypes and prejudices towards TCN<sup>194</sup>. In this field, the rights that apply to EU nationals are not in practice the same that apply to immigrants; especially those related to data protection, non-discrimination and private life<sup>195</sup>. The clearer conflict emerges in relation to the non-discrimination on the base of race, colour, ethnic or social origin, religion or belief, and membership of a national minority. In this sense, it appears that in practice «the "burden of proof" falls on the immigrant to demonstrate that he or she is somehow different from the profile of the category with which he or she is identified 196. The case of the «black» visa list of countries whose nationals need visas for short-term visits is a clear example of this 197. As the European Civil Liberties Network has stated, «it is a selective war against migration, because the EU's restrictive measures specifically target those fleeing from poverty and persecution:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> *Ibidem*, pp. 306-307. <sup>194</sup> Carrera & Merlino, 2009, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> The EU Charter of Fundamental Rights, Articles 7, 8, 9 and 21.

Cholewinski, 2007, p. 307.
 The nationals of these countries require visas also for short-term visits based on the presumption that nationals coming from those countries are more likely to overstay or because of public security considerations.

whilst industrialised countries remain "white-listed," poor countries are relegated to the EU's visa "black-list" 198.»

Discrimination between EU nationals and non-EU nationals is very clear on the different threshold for refusal of entry. For example, a TCN could be refused entry merely because he/she is seriously suspected of having committed a criminal offence carrying the penalty of at least one year<sup>199</sup>. However, a EU national can only be refused entry in regard to a present and sufficiently serious threat caused by his personal conduct and not because of previous convictions<sup>200</sup>. These policies are ineffective and based on threat prevention, the legitimacy of which could be easily questioned. Moreover, the discrimination present in this area can be blamed for two negative consequences. First, the treatment given to the TCN can be considered contrary to hr, in the sense that it does not consider the person as an individual whose rights can only be limited because of his/her personal behaviour, but because of his/her membership to a risk category. It does not allow the TCN to use his freedom of choice and denies the equal dignity of all human beings. Secondly, it could be promoting irregular migration because it closes the door for regular migration to a big number of people whose only choice to come to Europe will be through irregular means.

There are also relevant hr concerns in the increasing cooperation of the EU with neighbouring states related to migration issues, which in certain cases have contributed to the criminalisation of irregular immigrants in those states. This has been the case of Morocco, which, apparently in response to EU concerns on the transit of irregular migrants

198 European Civil Liberties Network, Oppose the «Stockholm Programme»: Statement by

the European Civil Liberties Network, Oppose the «Mockholm Programme»: Statement by the European Civil Liberties Network on the New EU Five-year Plan on Justice and Home Affairs, April 2009, p. 2, available at http://www.ecln.org/ECLN-statement-on-Stockholm-Programme-April-2009-eng.pdf (consulted on 15 May 2011).

199 Article 96, 2 (b) of Regulation (EC) No. 562/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 March 2006 establishing a Community Code on the rules governing the movement of persons across borders (Schengen Borders Code) in relation to the Convention Implementing the Schengen Agreement of 14 June 1985 between the Governments of the States of the Benelux Economic Union, the Federal Republic of Germany and the French Republic on the gradual abolition of checks at their common borders. OI I. 239, 22 Republic on the gradual abolition of checks at their common borders, OJ L 239, 22 September 2000. There are disturbing interpretations of the criteria given in this article, to the point that it has been reported by Statewatch that some countries include rejected asylum seekers or truck drivers who did not pay traffic fines, in Cholewinski, 2007, p. 308.

200 Directive 2004/38/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 on the right of citizens of the Union and their family members to move and reside freely within

the territory of the member states amending Regulation (EEC) No. 1612/68 and repealing Directives 64/221/EEC, 68/360/EEC, 72/194/EEC, 73/148/EEC, 75/34/EEC, 75/35/EEC, 90/364/EEC, 90/365/EEC and 93/96/EECart, OJ L 158/77, 30 April 2004, Article 27.

through the country<sup>201</sup>, adopted in 2003 a law imposing criminal sanctions, such as fines or imprisonment, to irregular migrants<sup>202</sup>. Also Romania and Bulgaria, during the EU accession process, and with the implicit support of the EU<sup>203</sup>, introduced measures sanctioning and imposing restrictions on their own nationals when they had committed an offence against the immigration law of any MS<sup>204</sup>. These sanctions included imprisonment of between three months and three years or/and confiscation of the passports for up to five years. These restrictions of freedom of movements, if adopted by a European country, would very likely violate Article 2.2 of Protocol 4 to the ECHR on the right to leave any country, including its own, and in any case could also infringe Article 12.2 of the ICCPR.

The EU external relations in immigration issues continue today to deal mainly with the control of potential immigrants from countries of origin or third countries of transit and with guaranteeing the return of irregular immigrants or rejected asylum seekers. For example, in the European Pact on Immigration and Asylum of 2008, the European Council agreed to «intensify cooperation with the countries of origin and of transit in order to strengthen control of the external border and to combat illegal immigration by increasing the European Union's aid for the training and equipping of those countries' staff responsible for managing migration flows<sup>205</sup>.» Thus, although there are also programmes with countries of origin regarding development and immigration, most of the aid given to these countries is dedicated to «deter or prevent

Cholewinski, 2007, p. 325.
 Bulgarian Law 02-03 on the admission and residence of foreigners and irregular

migration. Ibidem, p. 325.

ally sanction irregular entry or stay of third-country nationals into the country. I was not able to find any data on Rumania. A question of double incrimination (non bis in idem), which the EU Charter has extended, could came across if the EU country where the Bulgarian nationals

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> These measures were mentioned in the Commission's reports that led these countries to be in the list of countries which did not need a visa to enter the EU, and also in the Commission's Regular Reports on the progress of these two countries towards accession, e.g. European Commission, Report to the Council regarding Bulgaria in the perspective of the adoption of the Regulation determining the list of third countries whose nationals must be in possession of visas when crossing the external borders and those whose nationals are exempt of that requirement, COM (2001) 61, 2 February 2001; European Commission, Report form the Commission to the Council- Exemption of Rumanian Citizens from Visa Requirements, COM (2001) 361, 29 June 2001 or European Commission, 2003 Regular Report on Romania's Progress Towards Accession, SEC(2003) 1211/1, 5 November 2003.

entered irregularly also criminalised irregular entry and stay.

205 Council of the European Union, European Pact on Immigration and Asylum, 13189/08 ASIM 68, Brussels, 24 September 2008, p. 10.

illegal immigration, in particular by capacity-building in those countries<sup>206</sup>.»

In this sense, it is interesting to briefly analyse the 2011 Communication of the Commission on the evaluation of EU Readmission Agreements (EURAs). The Communication is the answer to the invitation that the Council made in the Stockholm Programme to the Commission to present an evaluation on this issue<sup>207</sup>. A EURA is an agreement between countries of origin or transit and the EU and it imposes reciprocal obligations to readmit their respective nationals or, in some cases, also third-country nationals and stateless persons. These agreements, key for the return of people with irregular migrant status, are considered to be a major element in the «fight» against irregular immigration in the EU.

Among the recommendations made by the Commission in this Communication, one of them is very troubling. It recommends that the EU inserts readmission obligations into its Framework Agreements with third countries, sanctioning those countries that do not show sufficient cooperation when tackling irregular migration<sup>208</sup>. It gives the possibility of suspending cooperation if the country denies collaborating in the «fight» against irregular immigration, which is very disturbing. It shows the priorities of the EU and its position on the negotiating table; depriving a developing country of assistance if the country does not obey to the orders of the EU. They are using the vulnerability of some countries, to get rid of the vulnerable people that Europe doesn't want anymore.

Therefore, the EU is exporting its restrictive approach towards external border, visa and irregular migration policies to third countries, consciously undermining fundamental human rights in these countries. This is also damaging the credibility of the EU as an international actor that promotes human rights around the world.

However, there are three recommendations in this Communication that, at least in theory, should be recognised as positive steps. The first one refers to the respect of hr when implementing EURA, and the subsequent suspension of its implementation in case it would lead to a

Ibidem, p. 14.
 The Stockholm Programme (2010/C 115/01), p. 31.
 European Commission COM(2011) 76 final Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council Evaluation of EU Readmission Agreements, Brussels, 23 February 2011, p. 8.

violation of these rights<sup>209</sup>. In connection with this recommendation, it is proposed that all EURAs referring also to the readmission of TCN should contain a clause explicitly stating that the treatment of TCN should be in compliance with at least the main hr instruments<sup>210</sup>. The last positive recommendation suggests that, taking into account the preference for voluntary return expressed in the Return Directive, EURA should include an article giving preference to this modality of return. Moreover, it suggests that parties should commit not to impose sanctions for non-compliance with migration rules on persons who return voluntarily<sup>211</sup>. This last recommendation could be very relevant for the criminalisation of irregular immigrants in the country of destination as well as in the country of origin or transit. It creates a limitation or exclusion to the criminal offence of irregular entry and stay for those irregular immigrants who return voluntarily.

Another area where immigration and criminal law touch is in the criminalisation of assistance to irregular immigrants, and here the EU has taken the lead. The main decisions taken in this area are the Directive 2002/90/EC defining the facilitation of unauthorised entry. transit and residence and the Framework Decision 2002/946/IHA on the strengthening of the penal framework to prevent the facilitation of unauthorised entry, transit and residence. They sanction the intentional provision of assistance to migrants in respect to their unauthorised entry into, transit across and residence within the territory. Although these measures may seem to be in the same line with the Palermo Protocol on smuggling, this is not the case. While this Protocol considers the protection of the smuggled people as one of its purposes and offers them certain measures of protection<sup>212</sup>, the EU provisions don't do any of those things. In fact, in the EU Directive, only the offence of facilitating unauthorised residence requires the element that the assistance is done with an economic aim, but not in the other two cases<sup>213</sup>. Even if the aim is to provide humanitarian assistance, the conduct could be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> *Ibidem*, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> *Ibidem*, p. 13.

<sup>211</sup> Ihidem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> Articles 2 and 16 of the Protocol against the Smuggling of Migrants by Land, Sea and Air, supplementing the United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organised Crime, 2000.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> On the contrary, Article 6 of the Palermo Protocol on smuggling establishes the offence of smuggling with human beings only when is done «in order to obtain, directly or indirectly, a financial or other material benefit.»

criminally sanctioned, unless the MS established such an exemption<sup>214</sup>. This has led many NGOs to protest against what they call «crimes of solidarity<sup>215</sup>.»

These regulations that potentially criminalise humanitarian assistance could be considered contrary to the principle of solidarity, which is one of the fundamental values of the EU, mentioned in the Preamble of the EU Charter and in national constitutions such as the Italian Constitution<sup>216</sup>. These regulations are not easily justifiable. They do not sanction the assistance to the commitment of a criminal activity, because irregular entry or residence is not yet considered a criminal offence by any EU provisions and some EU countries regulate it as an administrative offense. At the same time, it is not protecting the irregular immigrant, because it sanctions, not only the assistance for economic aims, but all kinds of assistance, thus it is just isolating and neglecting irregular immigrants. Moreover, these provisions contribute to an increasing spiral of unlawful activities, while solidarity and charity organisations can be punished if they do not choose well the recipients of their services.

Unfortunately, it is not easy to find strong hr arguments that could be invoked in front of a court against these provisions. There is no obvious violation of any hr of the offender, as there is no such thing as the «human right to do solidarity actions.» Only in the case of personal strong ties between the «offender» and the irregular immigrant who is being assisted, it could seem possible to claim a violation of the right to private life or family life<sup>217</sup>. There would be more hr violations allegeable in relation to the irregular immigrant that, as a consequence of the fear inflicted by these provisions, would not be assisted when needed. The problem in this case is that the irregular immigrant is not the direct subject of the provisions, and for example, it would be difficult to fulfil the requirement of the victim status and the exhaustion of domestic remedy to complain before the ECtHR. However, there is case-law that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> Council Directive 2002/90/EC of 28 November 2002 defining the facilitation of unauthorised entry, transit and residence, in OJ L 328, 5 December 2002, Article 1.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> See http://www.delinquants-solidaires.org/ and Feket, 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> Article 2 of the Italian Constitution of 1948.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> Article 7 of the EU Charter and Article 8 of the ECHR. Unfortunately, in the case of *Gillberg v. Sweden* of 2010, the Court said that there seems to be no case-law that recognise that a criminal conviction in itself interferes with Article 8 of the Convention. ECtHR, *Gillberg v. Sweden*, 41723/06, Council of Europe: European Court of Human Rights, 2 November 2010, para. 104.

could be alleged, such as the case of *Ternovszky v. Hungary*, where the Court recognised the victim status of a pregnant woman who claimed that she would not benefit from adequate professional assistance for a home birth due to a law criminalising doctors assisting home births<sup>218</sup>.

Other instruments contributing to the criminalisation of immigration are the Directive of 2009 providing for minimum standards on sanctions and measures against employers of illegally staying third-country nationals and the Council Directive 2001/51/EC strengthening the sanctions of carriers accused of assisting foreigners. Although, they are not necessarily solidarity crimes, because they usually imply an economic gain, they do contribute to the culture of distrust. Additionally, in the case of the Directive on illegal employment, it has negative consequence for equal labour opportunities, also for regular immigrants and nationals of ethnic or racial minorities, for which it could be considered manifestly disproportionate with regard to the objective it seeks to pursue<sup>219</sup>.

When dealing with smuggling, trafficking or illegal employment, the EU priority is the criminalisation of those committing these acts, meaning the traffickers, the smugglers or the employers of irregular immigrant. Unfortunately, in this area of criminal law, there seems to be a problem to identify who is the subject of those criminal sanctions and who is the victim that must be protected. The consequence is that the same person who is constructed as a victim of trafficking, may be two seconds later, considered a criminal him/herself under the offence of irregular immigration<sup>220</sup>. The victim is needed in order to constitute all the elements of the offence, but is no more considered as such when it comes to the obligation to protect him/her. There is clearly an instrumentalisation of those irregular immigrants and, most of the time, states violate their positive obligations to protect those under their jurisdiction.

Fortunately, the recent EU Directive 2011/36/EU on trafficking seems to change this approach and explicitly protects victims of trafficking from prosecution under immigration law offences<sup>221</sup>. Recital 14 of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> ECtHR, *Ternovszky v. Hungary*, 67545/09, Council of Europe: European Court of Human Rights, 14 December 2010, para. 21.
<sup>219</sup> Carrera & Merlino, 2009, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Guild & Minderhoud, 2006, p. 3.
<sup>221</sup> Article 8 of Directive 2011/36/EU.

this Directive establishes that «Victims of trafficking in human beings should [...] be protected from prosecution or punishment for criminal activities such as the use of false documents, or offences under legislation on prostitution or immigration, that they have been compelled to commit as a direct consequence of being subject to trafficking. The aim of such protection is to safeguard the human rights of victims, to avoid further victimisation [...].»

However, in general, as the project CHALLENGE concluded, «the protection of the undocumented migrant [...] does not appear to be the driving force behind the intensification of EU action in the field of criminal law from the perspective of migration policies<sup>222</sup>.»

## 3.4. RETURNING IRREGULAR IMMIGRANTS IN THE EU AND EL DRIDI CASE

# 3.4.1. EU Policies on the Return of Irregular Immigrants

The EU has always given great importance to the return of rejected asylum seekers and irregular immigrants because it considered it to be crucial for the credibility of a common asylum and migration law and policy. It has, as a consequence, neglected other areas such as the creation of a feasible EU policy on legal migration for labour, which would possibly decrease the number of irregular immigrants and therefore the volume of returns<sup>223</sup>.

Before the RD, the return of TCN within the EU was based on a mix of both legally binding and soft law measures. The soft law approach was mainly focused on the implementation of a Return Action Programme adopted on 28 November 2002 by the Council<sup>224</sup>. This Programme suggested developing a number of short-, medium- and longterm measures, including common EU-wide minimum standards or guidelines, in the field of return of irregular residents<sup>225</sup>. Subsequent to this Programme, there was an intense operational activity of cooperation between immigration and law enforcement officials in MS. The

<sup>225</sup> See http://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/policies/immigration/immigration\_intro\_en.htm, website of DG for Home Affairs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> Carrera & Merlino, 2009, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> Cholewinski, 2007, p. 318. <sup>224</sup> European Union Return Action Programme, adopted by the Justice and Hume Affairs Council on 28 November 2002.

approach concentrated mostly on measures of forced return, which contrasted with the position of the Council of Europe given in the 20 guidelines on forced return that established that the host state has to promote voluntary return<sup>226</sup>.

The legally binding measures were focused on readmission agreements in order to return irregular immigrants either to their countries of origin or the third countries from where they arrived to the EU<sup>227</sup>. There were other binding measures directed towards MS cooperation on the expulsion process, based on mutual recognition of expulsion decisions<sup>228</sup>, assistance in cases of transit for the purposes of removal by air<sup>229</sup> and the organisation of joint flights<sup>230</sup>. All these measures also focussed on forced return, particularly on the effectiveness of the return and the reduction of economic costs, disregarding the protection of hr in the expulsion processes. These objectives of efficient and quick return had also the aim of discouraging potential irregular immigrants from coming<sup>231</sup>.

The Directive on assistance in cases of transit for the purposes of removal by air was very strong on the focus given to forced return, to the point that it stated in its Preamble that the sovereignty of MS, in particular «with regard to the use of direct force against third country nationals resisting removal should remain unaffected232 and, in Article 7, it allows for the use of force against TCN beyond self-defence. Moreover, the Directive on the organisation of joint flights has been criticised for posing a risk of institutionalising collective expulsions in the EU, contrary to Article 4 of Protocol 4 ECHR and Article 19 of the EU Charter. Taking into account all these risks of hr violations, it seems troubling that they did not prescribe clearer hr guarantees, particularly on the procedural level<sup>233</sup>.

on the expulsion of third country nationals, OJ L 149, 2 June 2001.

229 Council Directive 2003/110/EC of 25 November 2003 on assistance in cases of transit for the purposes of removal by air, OJ L 321, 6 December 2003.

230 Council Decision 2004/573/EC of 29 April 2004 on the organisation of joint flights for

removals from the territory of two or more member states, of third-country nationals who are subjects of individual removal orders, OJ L 261, 6 August 2004.

231 Cholewinski, 2007, p. 321.

232 Council Directive 2003/110/EC, Recital 3.

233 Cholewinski, 2007, p. 323.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> Council of Europe, Twenty Guidelines on Forced Return, September 2005, available at http://www.coe.int/t/dg3/migration/Source/MalagaRegConf/20\_Guidelines\_Forced\_Return\_en.pdf (consulted on 23 April 2011).
 <sup>227</sup> Cholewinski, 2007, p. 319.
 <sup>228</sup> Council Directive 2001/40/EC of 28 May 2001 on the mutual recognition of decisions

Already in 2005, the Commission made a proposal for a Directive on common standards and procedures for returning irregular immigrants<sup>234</sup>. Initially, it seemed difficult to find the consensus necessary for its approval, due to the divergent views of key governments<sup>235</sup>, but finally, on 16 December 2008 the Directive on common standards and procedures in member states for returning illegally staying thirdcountry nationals (RD) was adopted, showing a clear preference for voluntary return<sup>236</sup>.

Article 1 of this Directive establishes its subject matter, which is to set out common standards and procedures to be applied in MS for returning TCN, in accordance with fundamental rights as general principles of community law as well as international law, including refugee protection and human rights obligations<sup>237</sup>. Therefore, I would say that the respect for hr in the procedures of return is by itself part of the aim of this Directive, and MS's legislation that could lead to a violation of these rights should be considered as undermining the effectiveness of EU law, according to Article 4.3 TEU. In this sense, Article 5 RD specifically refers to the obligation of MS to take due account of the best interests of the child, family life and the state of health of the TCN, and to respect the principle of non-refoulement<sup>238</sup>. Moreover, Article 4 states that only more favourable conditions to the ones established in the Directive are possible<sup>239</sup>.

It is also important to know that this Directive does not apply to every return within EUMS<sup>240</sup>. Article 2 of this Directive states that it does not apply to persons enjoying the community right of free movement as defined in Article 2(5) of the Schengen Borders Code<sup>241</sup>. Moreover, according to Article 2.2 RD, MS may decide not to apply the Directive to TCN who entered irregularly or whose return is a matter of criminal or extradition law<sup>242</sup>. Nevertheless, Article 4.4 RD stipulates

<sup>237</sup> Article 1 RD.

<sup>238</sup> Boeles, den Heijer, Lodder & Wouters, 2009, p. 412.

Moreover, there are three MS to which this Directive does not apply: UK, Ireland and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> European Commission, Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on common standards and procedures in member states for returning illegally staying third-country nationals, COM (2005) 391 final, 1 September 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> Cholewinski, 2007, p. 324. <sup>236</sup> Recital 10 and Article 7 of the RD.

However, Article 4.3 RD stipulates a limit to the more favourable conditions that MS can establish, saying that they have to be compatible with the Directive.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> Boeles, den Heijer, Lodder & Wouters, 2009, p. 412.

that for the return of TCN who entered irregularly, MS have to respect the principle of *non-refoulement* and ensure that their treatment and level of protection is no less favourable than certain provisions of the Directive. However, for those TCN whose return is a matter of criminal or extradition law the guarantees of the RD do not apply. Yet, MS maintain their general obligation to respect the hr of irregular immigrants, as it has been studied previously in this thesis.

I will now very briefly explain the different steps of the return procedure according to the RD. First, MS issue a return decision to irregularly staying TCN<sup>243</sup>, which must include a period for voluntary return<sup>244</sup>. If the irregularly staying TCN doesn't leave within the period granted or if, according to specified conditions, the MS did not grant such a voluntary return, then MS will have to enforce a forced return<sup>245</sup>, using always the least coercive measures at their disposal. This measures may include administrative detention, which should follow the guarantees given by Articles 15 and 16, including that irregular immigrants should always be separated from ordinary prisoners<sup>246</sup>. This guarantee can be seen as refusal to the criminalisation of irregular immigrants, in the sense that irregular immigrants should not be treated as criminal, and thus shall not be detained together with ordinary prisoners.

This Directive has been severely criticised by NGOs<sup>247</sup> and international organisations. One of the main critics was based on the maximum detention period of 18 months allowed by Article 15 RD. It should also be criticised that it regards returning irregularly staying TCN as the only possible solution, or even as an obligation to MS. In this sense Article 6 of the RD states that «Member States shall issue a return decision to any third-country national staying illegally on their territory.» There are few exceptions allowed, including the possibility that MS decide to grant «an autonomous residence permit or other authorisation offering a right to stay for compassionate, humanitarian or other reasons<sup>248</sup>.»

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Article 6 RD.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> Article 7 RD.

Article 8 RD, this shall or may be accompanied with an entry ban, according to Article

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> See Amnesty International, EU Office Reaction to Return Directive Vote, 18 June 2008, available at http://www.amnesty.eu/en/press-releases/all/amnesty-international-eu-office-reaction-to-return-directive-vote-0363/?cfid=12&id=366&cat=4&l=1 (consulted on 2 June 2011). <sup>248</sup> Article 6.4 RD.

Also the «Global approach to migration<sup>249</sup>» shows a focus on return of irregular TCN. This approach has the aim of bringing together the different policies related to the issue of migration in a coherent manner. The most relevant instrument introduced by this global approach is the so-called «mobility partnership» with third countries. These instruments include measures such as development aid, temporary entry visa facilitation, circular migration, «fight against illegal migration» and, of course, readmission agreements. According to these instruments, third countries must also carry out specific information campaigns on irregular immigration and discourage it, strengthen border controls and take stronger measures to tackle forged documents, while the EU could offer nationals of those countries better access to the EU<sup>250</sup>. Therefore, this approach is another indication of the EU focus on return when dealing with irregular immigration.

Also in 2008, the Council of the European Union, under the French Presidency, adopted the «European Pact on Immigration and Asylum,» which gives the same «solutions» to the issue of irregular immigration than the RD. One of the five basic commitments of this pact is «to control illegal immigration by ensuring that illegal immigrants return to their countries of origin or to a country of transit,» referring to returning irregular immigrants as the only legitimate measure.

This obsessive focus on the return of irregular immigrants, not paying attention to other solutions such as regularisations, as it has been recommended by the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe<sup>251</sup>, neglects completely the needs of those that can not be returned. The FRA has called attention to «the treatment of irregular migrants who for technical or similar reasons cannot be removed from the EU territory<sup>252</sup>» and has asked for further examination of their situation in full respect of the *non-refoulement* principle.

## 3.4.2. El Dridi Case

The 28 April 2011 was a very important day for the issue of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> Council of the European Union, Council Conclusions on enhancing the Global Approach to Migration, 2878th General Affairs Council meeting, Luxembourg, 16 June 2008.

<sup>250</sup> Castagnoli, 2010, pp. 4-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> Parlimentary Assembly of the Council of Europe, Recommendation 1807 (2007) Regularisation Programmes for Irregular Migrants, adopted on 1 October 2007. <sup>252</sup> The Stockholm Programme (2010/C115/01), p. 10.

criminalisation of irregular immigrants in the EU. That day, the EUCI issued a judgement which declared that Articles 15 and 16 of the RD should be interpreted<sup>253</sup> as precluding a MS's legislation to provide for a sentence of imprisonment to be imposed on irregularly staying TCN on the sole ground that he/she remains, without valid grounds, on the territory of that MS, contrary to an order to leave that territory within a given period<sup>254</sup>. This means that, from now on, EUMS will be violating EU law if they impose imprisonment penalties to irregular immigrants merely based on their irregular migration status. Although this is not necessarily the end of criminalisation of irregular immigrants in the EU, it is a big step forward. The next paragraphs will analyse this judgement in the light of the repercussions it may have in EUMS's legislations that criminalise irregular immigration.

In this judgment, the EUCJ gives a preliminary ruling under Article 267 TFEU. It follows a request by an Italian Court, before which Mr El Dridi had appealed a decision that sentenced him to a year imprisonment for not complying with an order of removal. Since Mr El Dridi was being held in custody, the Italian Court also asked that the preliminary ruling be dealt with under an urgent procedure in accordance with Article 104B of the Court's Rules of Procedure<sup>255</sup>.

The RD has not been yet transposed by many MS<sup>256</sup>, Italy among them, although the time to do it prescribed the 24 December 2010. However some national courts, such as Italian<sup>257</sup> or French courts<sup>258</sup>, have agreed that many provisions of the RD are self-executing, such as Articles 15 and 16, and have, therefore, already started applying it. Indeed, it is in the application of the RD by the Italian judge that the question for a preliminary ruling emerges. In this sense, the EUCJ states that «according to settled case-law, where a Member State fails to transpose a directive by the end of the period prescribed or fails to transpose the directive correctly, the provisions of that directive which appear, so far as their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> The EUCJ had already issued a preliminary ruling interpreting Article 15 of the RD, which was declared as self-executing, in the EUCJ, *Kadzoev*, C-357/09 PPU, 30 November

<sup>2009.</sup> <sup>254</sup> EUCJ, *Hassen El Dridi alias Soufi Karim*, Judgment C-61/11 PPU, 28 April 2011, para.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> Court Of Justice, Consolidated Version of the Rules of Procedure of the Court of Justice (2010/C 177/01), OJ C 177/1, 2 July 2010.

256 By March of 2010 most EUMS had not yet transposed the RD. European Migration

Network, Ad-Hoc Query on Return Directive, compilation produced on 22 March 2010.

257 Italian Tribunal of Torino, 15 January 2011.

258 French Conseil d'État, avis 21 March 2011.

subject-matter is concerned, to be unconditional and sufficiently precise may be relied on by individuals against the State [...]<sup>259</sup>.»

One of the questions that should be considered in this case is the nature of the provisions involved. As it has been mentioned before, after the TL, the EU has competence to enact acts on criminal matters. Nevertheless, according to Article 9 of Protocol 36, the acts adopted before the entry into force of the Treaty, such as the RD, will continue to have the same legal effects that they had before<sup>260</sup>. However, the Court declares that «although in principle criminal legislation and the rules of criminal procedure are matters for which the Member States are responsible, this branch of the law may nevertheless be affected by European Union law [...]<sup>261</sup>.» Therefore, if the act of the EU is within EC competences, according to the principle of prevalence of community law over national law, the implementation of that act could affect criminal provisions of national law262. Thus, even if the RD does not contain provisions of a criminal nature, its effective application may affect MS's criminal law. In fact, Case C-61/11 PPU does refer to criminal provisions of Italian law that are contrary to the RD.

To start the analysis of the judgement, it is important to first take a close look at the question for a preliminary ruling. This question is composed by two sub questions. The frame of both questions are Articles 15 and 16 of the RD, and the respect for the «principle of sincere cooperation, the purpose of which is to ensure the attainment of the objectives of the directive, and the principle that the penalty must be proportionate, appropriate and reasonable<sup>263</sup>.» One of the sub questions, to which the ruling of the judgement refers to, asks whether the above-mentioned principles and the provisions in the RD preclude «the possibility of a sentence of up to four years' imprisonment being imposed in respect of a simple failure to cooperate in the deportation procedure on the part of the person concerned, in particular where the first removal order issued by the administrative authorities has not been complied with<sup>264</sup>.» The main element that drives the ruling is that such a penalty «risks jeopardising the attainment of the objective pursued by

EUCJ, Case C-61/11 PPU, para. 46.
 Epidendio, 2011.
 EUCJ, Case C-61/11 PPU, para. 53.
 Epidendio, 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> EUCJ, Case C-61/11 PPU, para. 25.

that directive, namely, the establishment of an effective policy of removal and repatriation of illegally staying third-country nationals<sup>265</sup>.»

Nevertheless, that question leaves open the possibility of criminalising irregular immigration through other criminal sanctions different to the one of imprisonment. In that sense, it is relevant to notice the second sub question, which asks whether the above-mentioned principles and provisions of the RD exclude «the possibility that criminal penalties may be imposed in respect of a breach of an intermediate stage in the administrative return procedure, before that procedure is completed, by having recourse to the most severe administrative measure of constraint which remains available 266. » Unfourtunately, both the agents of the Commission and of Mr El Dridi, ignored this question. The lawyers of Mr El Dridi even stated during the proceedings that the question was not if a MS can impose any criminal sanction to the TCN not cooperating in the return procedure, but only referred to imprisonment penalties such as the one stipulated in the Italian law<sup>267</sup>.

The EUCI, although it did not make explicit reference to this question in the final ruling, did give an answer to it. It first specified that if none of the measures provided in the RD led to the removal of the TCN «against whom they were issued, the Member States remain free to adopt measures, including criminal law measures, aimed inter alia at dissuading those nationals from remaining illegally on those States' territory<sup>268</sup>.» Moreover, it explicitly says that «neither point (3)(b) of the first paragraph of Article 63 EC, a provision which was reproduced in Article 79(2)(c) TFEU, nor Directive 2008/115, adopted inter alia on the basis of that provision of the EC Treaty, precludes the member states from having competence in criminal matters in the area of illegal immigration and illegal stays [...]<sup>269</sup>.» A positive answer to this question would have implied a clear prohibition of criminalising irregular immigrants, vet the Court decided not to do so. Some scholars say that the recent tensions between Italy and the EU in immigration matters could have influenced the decision of the EUCJ<sup>270</sup>.

 <sup>265</sup> *Ibidem*, para. 59.
 266 EUCJ, Case C-61/11 PPU, para. 25. <sup>267</sup> Prejudicial procedure C-61/11 (PPU) - El Dridi Hassen, Hearing of 30 March 2011, 10.30, El Dridi's Defense.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> EUCJ, Case C-61/11 PPU, para. 52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> *Ibidem*, para. 54. <sup>270</sup> Masera & Vigano, 2011.

However, there is also reference to the need that the penalty, whatever penalty it is, adjusts to the principles of proportionality, appropriateness and reasonableness. The judgement refers explicitly to rRecital 13 of the RD, which «makes the use of coercive measures expressly subject to the principles of proportionality and effectiveness with regard to the means used and objectives pursued<sup>271</sup>.» Therefore, although other criminal sanctions are allowed, they would still have to be effective and proportional<sup>272</sup>. In this sense, an economic criminal sanction imposed for the offense of irregular stay or entry could possibly be considered ineffective for the purpose of return<sup>273</sup>, more so if it is imposed before the possibility for voluntary return is granted.

Moreover, a certain limit to criminalisation could also be inferred from paragraph 52 read together with paragraph 60 of this judgement, allowing it only when all other measures have failed. Indeed, paragraph 52 says that in case none of the measures provided in the RD led to the removal of a TCN, MS can adopt «measures, including criminal law measures, aimed inter alia at dissuading those nationals from remaining illegally on those States' territory<sup>274</sup>» and paragraph 60 explicitly states that MS can adopt «provisions regulating the situation in which coercive measures have not resulted in the removal of a third-country national staving illegally on their territory<sup>275</sup>.»

Furthermore, it seems that this preliminary ruling does not explicitly question whether the Italian provision analysed in this judgement was contrary to hr. In the judgement, there are only general references to the respect of human and fundamental rights in the recitals of the Preamble and in Articles 1 and 4 of the RD. Recital 2 and Article 1 of the RD define the purpose of this Directive as the establishment of «common standards and procedures to be applied in Member States for returning illegally staying third-country nationals, in accordance with fundamental rights as general principles of Community law as well as international law, including refugee protection and human rights obligations<sup>276</sup>.» Therefore,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> EUCJ, Case C-61/11 PPU, para. 57.

Also Article 49.3 of the EU Charter establishes that the severity of penalties must not be disproportionate to the criminal offence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> In fact, in practical terms, high economic penalties, as many EUMS have, are probably out of reach for most irregular immigrants, which proves the total ineffectiveness of these measures

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> EUCJ, Case C-61/11 PPU, para. 52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> *Ibidem*, para. 60. <sup>276</sup> Article 1 RD [italics added].

it may have been more appropriate to ask whether imposing criminal sanctions to TCN merely based on their irregular status is contrary to a return procedure in accordance with human rights obligations.

Nonetheless, certain scholars consider that the EUCI based its ruling also on the respect of the human right to personal liberty, but it preferred to hide its role as a fundamental rights guardian and concentrate on condemning the inefficiency of the Italian provision to the achievement of the objective of the RD<sup>277</sup>. Two paragraphs may support this view. The first one specifies that administrative detention, which is the most serious constraining measure allowed under the RD, is strictly regulated in Articles 15 and 16 in order to guarantee the fundamental rights of the TCN concerned<sup>278</sup>. Additionally, the EUCI makes explicit reference to the case-law of the ECtHR and to the «Twenty Guidelines on Forced Return» of the Council of Europe, stating that «the maximum period laid down in Articles 15(5) and (6) of Directive 2008/115 serves the purpose of limiting the deprivation of third-country nationals' liberty in a situation of forced removal<sup>279</sup>.»

In any case, following this judgement, national courts, as common judges of EU law, will have to apply EU law and reject all national law contrary to it<sup>280</sup>. As the judgements of the EUCI are considered to be part of EU law, and more so when they are the result of a preliminary ruling, the national courts of all EUMS, except for the UK, Ireland and Denmark, will have to apply their national law in accordance to the interpretation given by the EUCI. Moreover, when doing this, national courts will also have to apply the principle of the retroactive application of the more lenient penalty<sup>281</sup>, which as recalled by the EUCJ in its judgement, forms part of the constitutional traditions common to all member states<sup>282</sup>.

Therefore, taking into account that many EUMS's legislations provide for imprisonment for the crime of irregular stay or entry, it is expected that, subsequent to this judgement, many national courts will have to disapply their national legislations so they are in accordance to the RD as interpreted in this case<sup>283</sup>. For example, in France, the judge-

Masera & Vigano, 2011.
 EUCJ, Case C-61/11 PPU, para. 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> *Ibidem*, para. 43. <sup>280</sup> Article 4 TEU.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> Also Article 49.1 of the EU Charter establishes this principle.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> EUCJ, Case C-61/11 PPU, para. 61.

ment was applied immediately<sup>284</sup>. Although the government denied that the judgement was applicable to France, French courts started straightway to apply it and release many irregular immigrants that were under arrest<sup>285</sup>. Moreover, different French NGOs, associations and trade unions announced the consequences that this judgement should have in France and considered that it was a battle won against the criminalisation of irregular immigration<sup>286</sup>.

However, giving a strict interpretation of this judgement, criminalising through indirect measures, such as through solidarity crimes or imposing other criminal sanctions different from imprisonment are still possible. Indeed, the legislative provisions of countries like Finland, Poland or even Italy, which sanction the offence of clandestinity with an economic criminal penalty, could be interpreted as not being affected by this judgement. Moreover, as it was said before, this judgement does not apply to certain EUMS, namely the UK and Ireland<sup>287</sup> and Denmark.

<sup>285</sup> La Cimade, *Quand le système de renvoi des étrangers se fissure*, 25 May 2011, available at http://www.cimade.org/nouvelles/3281-Quand-le-syst-me-de-renvoi-des-trangers-sefissure (consulted on 3 June 2011).

<sup>287</sup> In general, in the case of the UK and Ireland, the judgements of the EUCJ interpreting legislative instruments on immigration or asylum do not apply, unless they opted in those

instruments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> French Court d'Appel de Nîmes, Cabinet du Premier President, Ordonnance de Référé rendue au fond le 6 mai 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> ADDE, Fasti, Gisti, La Cimade, Pratiques, Le cahiers de médecine utopique, SAF, SMG and syndicat de la magistrature, Action Collective: «Vers la fin de la pénalisation du séjour irrégulier», Paris, 29 April 2011, available at http://www.gisti.org/spip.php?article 2283 (consulted on 8 June 2011).

## CHAPTER 4

## CASE STUDY: ITALY AS A EU MEMBER STATE

Italy has had a long emigration history and has only rather recently become an immigration country. Italian immigration policy is formally quite restrictive, although, in practice, due to the strong demand for foreign workers, Italian authorities tend to indulge in irregular employment. As it has been recently recommended in the Final Report of the CLANDESTINO project<sup>288</sup>, Italy has to reform its immigration policy to avoid such contradiction. It should allow for more flexible legal immigration and use measures such as forced removal only as supplementary and not as main policy instruments. Most importantly, this Report also suggests that the «[c]riminalisation of undocumented migration should be avoided in both policy practices and political discourse289.»

## 4.1. ITALIAN LAW ON CRIMINALISATION OF IMMIGRANTS

This section will analyse the most relevant provisions of the Italian legislation on immigration relative to the phenomenon of criminalising irregular immigrants, at the light of the Italian doctrine and the Italian Constitutional Court case-law. These provisions can be found in the Italian Immigration Act of 1998 (TUI)<sup>290</sup>. The first provision that will be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> CLANDESTINO Project, Final Report, 23 November 2009, pp. 69-73, available at http://clandestino.eliamep.gr/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/clandestino-final-report\_november-2009.pdf (consulted on 12 June 2011).

289 *Ibidem*, p. 73.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> Legislative Decree No. 286/1998 of 25 July 1998 consolidating the provisions regulating immigration and the rules relating to the status of foreign national (Ordinary Supplement to

analysed will be Article 14.5(b), which stipulates a penalty of imprisonment for any irregular immigrant who does not abandon the Italian territory after the time specified in an order to leave the territory has expired. This provision has been considered contrary to the RD by the EUCJ in El Dridi case and had been repeatedly criticised by Italian jurists for being contrary to the Italian Constitution. The second provision that will be examined is Article 10*bis*, which requires that a criminal economic penalty be imposed on any person that has entered or stayed in Italy in contrast with the Italian rules on immigration. The EUCJ has not yet made any reference to this provision, although there is a preliminary ruling pending on the matter.

In order to understand better the criminal offence established by Article 14.5(b) TUI, it is necessary to analyse the Italian provisions regulating the return procedure, prior to the transposal of the RD. All the provisions regulating this procedure can be found in the TUI. Articles 13(2) and (4) of this law established that when a person entered or stayed irregularly in the country, his/her expulsion would be ordered by the Prefetto, local representative of the government, and carried out by the Questore, the head of the local police, with deportation by the law enforcement authorities. Those that overstayed with no risk of absconding should return voluntarily within fifteen days, however, the possibility for voluntary return, in practice, was given in very limited cases. These provisions illustrate the main divergence of the Italian system of return with the RD: the preference for forced return.

If the removal order through forced return had been issued, but it was not immediately possible to effect the expulsion by deportation or return because it was necessary to provide assistance to the immigrant, conduct further checks on his identity or nationality, acquire travel documents, or because of the unavailability of the carrier or other suitable means of transport, according to Article 14.1, the Questore would order the detention of the foreign national for the length of time which is strictly necessary, in the nearest detention centre. The reasons given for the application of administrative detention in the Italian legislation were mainly objective and did not include those given in Article 15.1 of the RD, which are primarily subjective in nature. Moreover, they con-

GURI No. 191 of 18 August 1998), as amended by Law No. 94 of 15 July 2009 on public security (Ordinary Supplement to GURI No. 170 of 24 July 2009).

trasted the character of exceptional measure given to administrative detention by the RD in general.

If the administrative detention is not possible or if the immigrant was already detained but it was not possible to return or expel him by deportation, then Article 14.5(a) established that the Questore would order the foreign national to leave the territory of the state within five days. This order would specify the consequences of the irregular stay on the territory of the state in terms of penalties and it could include the presentation to the person concerned of the documents necessary to go to the diplomatic mission or consular post of his country in Italy, and also to return to the country to which he belongs or, if that was not possible, to the country from which he came. It should be noticed that the wording of the provision was «may include,» which leads to the question of how can the person return if the police doesn't give him or her the documents necessary to do so?

Therefore, when the state failed to return the person or it was not possible to detain him/her, usually due to lack of space in detention centres, then an order of removal providing for a kind of «voluntary return» would be issued. That is when Article 14.5(b) became relevant, introducing a criminal provision which applied to the TCN, who «without valid grounds» remained in Italy without the necessary requirements, contrary to the order mentioned above. Italian judges have used the element of «without valid grounds,» which was a constituent element of the offence, to acquit many irregular immigrants. However, this element made the offence quite vague<sup>291</sup> and left irregular immigrants at the mercy of the competent judge. Moreover, it was up to the immigrant to prove that he/she had valid grounds to stay, which is contrary to the general principle of criminal procedure, according to which it should be the prosecutor the one proving the responsibility of the accuse and, therefore, the inexistence of any valid grounds<sup>292</sup>.

The criminal sanction established by Article 14.5(b) was a term of imprisonment. In the case of those who entered irregularly into the Italian territory did not apply for a residence permit, did not declare their presence on the territory within the required period, where there was no force majeure, or those whose residence permit had been revoked or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> Lanza, 2011, p. 296. <sup>292</sup> *Ibidem*, p. 297.

cancelled, they would be liable to a term of imprisonment of one to four years. A shorter term of imprisonment of six months to one year would apply to those whose residence permit expired more than 60 days previously and application for renewal has not been made, or was rejected.

It was a criminal offence that sanctioned the immigrant that was not able to return by his own means, in the cases where the state failed to return him itself. In other words, the state was blaming on the immigrants its own inability to return them. Some Italian jurists consider that the legislator was applying an objective responsibility<sup>293</sup>. They believe the offence was punishing the omission of a conduct that is in practice impossible, as it was asking people, usually in destitute situation, to acquire a travel document in order to leave the country in five days, when the state was not able to return them in 60 days<sup>294</sup>.

In any case, save where the foreign national was placed in detention, a new order to leave the country would be issued. This new order would be subject to the same provisions that applied to the first order. If the foreigner found him/herself again in the situation described by Article 14.5(b), meaning that he/she had not left the territory contrary to the new order to do so within five days, independently of whether it was with or without valid grounds, then a new criminal provision will apply, which is established in Article 14.5(c). This article prescribes a term of imprisonment of one to five years with a subsequent third order of removal. Fortunately, in December of last year, the Italian Constitutional Court<sup>295</sup> ruled that undocumented migrants in destitute situations could not be punished for not leaving the Italian territory after an order of expulsion was issued against them, referring to the element of «without valid grounds» that had been eliminated from Article 14.5(c). The criminal offense prescribed in this Article 14.5 (c), will also be considered contrary to the RD by the Italian courts, as it will be seen in the next section.

For these two criminal offences, according to Article 14.5(d), the arrest was mandatory and an expedited procedure had to be followed. Thus, these provisions are an example of how the state puts the burden of its own aggravated incapacity to return irregular immigrants, on the immigrant themselves.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> *Ibidem*, p. 298. <sup>294</sup> *Ibidem*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> Italian Constitutional Court, Judgement no. 359, 17 December 2010.

The criminal offense prescribed in Article 10bis TUI was introduced by the Law no. 94 of 15 July 2009 on public security, known as the «Security Package<sup>296</sup>.» This provision introduces an explicit criminalisation of undocumented immigrants, the so-called «crime of clandestinity, which sanctions the foreigner who enters or remains in the state, infringing the regulations of the TUI and Law no. 68/2007, regarding short-term stays, with a fine from 5,000 to 10,000 euros and an expulsion order with an entry ban of at least 5 years as an alternative sanction, according to Article 16.1 TUI.

Law no. 94/2009 has also modified other provisions of the TUI oriented towards limiting the rights of undocumented immigrants and harshening the sanctions against those directly or inderectly related with them. This law has been internationally criticised, including during the recent UPR to Italy, as it was mentioned before. Not to mention NGOs, which have made very serious accusations of violations of human rights in relation to this law<sup>297</sup>. Also the Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights has repeatedly criticised this law and other previous measures that went in the same direction<sup>298</sup>.

Only to mention some of the most shocking measures introduced by the Italian government, Law no. 125 of 24 July 2008 introduced the offence of housing irregular migrants sanctioned with 6 months to three vears imprisonment and the seizure of the house<sup>299</sup>, while Law no. 94/2009 created the obligation for money-transfer agencies to inform the police if TCN do not show their residence permit when doing a money transfer<sup>300</sup>. Moreover, the «Security Package» of 2009 also increased the penalties for foreign nationals who, upon request of law enforcement officials, did not show his/her identification document and residence permit, with imprisonment of up to one year and a fine

<sup>296</sup> Law no. 94 of 15 July 2009 on public security, Ordinary Supplement to GURI No. 170 of 24 July 2009, Article 1, sub-para. 16.

<sup>278</sup> See Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, Report on Italy 2009 or his Issue paper of 2010 on Criminalisation of Migration in Europe where it states that «[i]n general the "security package" in Italy presents a number of difficult challenges regarding the

criminalisation of foreigners.»

See Everyone group, Italy: Law 94/2009 Is a Serious Violation of Human Rights, 17 October 2009, available at http://www.everyonegroup.com/EveryOne/MainPage/Entries/2009/10/17\_Italy\_Law\_94\_2009 is a\_serious\_violation\_of\_Human\_Rights.html (consulted on 27 April 2011) or the blog http://nopacchettosicurezza.noblogs.org/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> This raises a violation of the right to housing of the ICESCR, Article 11, and of Article 1 of the EU Charter, which protects an evolutionary concept of human dignity that could include housing.

300 Law No. 94 of 15 July 2009, Article 1, subpara. 20.

of 2,000 euros<sup>301</sup>. However, the Italian Corte di Cassazione recently declared that this offence is not applicable to irregular immigrants<sup>302</sup>.

At the national level and before the RD became self-executing, the Italian Constitutional Court dealt with the constitutional legitimacy of Article 10*bis* TUI, which it declared constitutional<sup>303</sup>. In order to better understand the decision taken by this court, it is useful to take a look at the recent history of the relations between the court and the Italian governments related to the intersection concerning immigration and criminal law.

Already in 2004, the Italian Constitutional Court invited the Italian legislator to rethink the use it was making of criminal law in immigration issues. The context of this request was a judgement by the court that declared unconstitutional the mandatory arrest for the offenders of Article 14.5(b) TUI, which at the moment was only a contravention. The political parties in power at the moment, which are also in power now, considered the judgement to be an illegitimate intrusion by the Constitutional Court in the powers of the legislative authority on matters related to criminal policies<sup>304</sup>.

Consequently, following this judgement, the government in power enacted a Decree Law increasing the criminal penalty stipulated against those irregular immigrants not abandoning the Italian territory after an order of removal has been issued against them, making it a criminal offense and not any more a contravention<sup>305</sup>. The penalty was to be imprisonment from one to four years. From that moment on, the Italian Constitutional Court has always denied the unconstitutionality of Article 14.5(b) TUI under the argument that the legislator has wide discretionary powers in the field of criminal law<sup>306</sup>. Taking this into account, according to some authors, it was not surprising that the Court also denied the unconstitutionality of Article 10*bis* TUI<sup>307</sup>.

Law no. 94/2009 introduced not only the «crime of clandestinity» but also an aggravating circumstance in the Criminal Code in relation to the irregular status of an offender. Both provisions were brought in

<sup>301</sup> Ibidem, Article 1, subpara. 22(h).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> Italian Corte di Cassazione no. 16453, 24 February 2011. <sup>303</sup> Italian Constitutional Court, Judgement no. 250, 8 July 2010.

<sup>304</sup> Masera, 2010, p. 1374.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup> Decree Law no. 241, 14 September 2004, became Law no. 271, 12 November 2004.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> Masera, 2010, p. 1374.

<sup>307</sup> Ibidem.

front of the Court questioning if, in the light of the Italian Constitution and international human rights instruments, the irregular status of an immigrant could have criminal consequences, be it as an autonomous criminal offense or as an aggravating circumstance. It seems reasonable that the same answer would have been given to both questions, however this was not the case, and the Court decided to declare the unconstitutionality of the aggravating circumstance<sup>308</sup> and the legitimacy of the «crime of clandestinity.» It has been argued that this decision of the Constitutional Court of not eliminating both provisions, considered to be the most important measures introduced by the 2009 «Security Package,» responded to the fear of being attacked once more by the political parties in power, and possibily damaging its credibility<sup>309</sup>.

The following paragraphs will give a brief explanation of the main arguments used by the objectors of the crime of clandestinity and those given by the Court when considering the constitutional legitimacy of Article 10*bis* TUI. The Italian Constitutional Court holds its decision mainly on the fact that the choice to criminalise irregular immigrants lies within the state's margin of appreciation. The Court states that it cannot interfere in this margin, except in those cases where the choices made are clearly unreasonable or arbitrary, and it considers that this is not the case<sup>310</sup>. Therefore, according to the Court, to regulate irregular immigration through criminal law instead of through administrative law is part of the state's margin of appreciation and thus legitimate<sup>311</sup>.

The Court justifies the discrepancy in the decisions on the aggravating circumstance of irregular status and the crime of clandestinity, saying that the first is making a presumption of danger, which is unconstitutional, while the other is only sanctioning the commission of an illegal act that attacks a legitimate interest of the state<sup>312</sup>. The Court argues that the legitimate interest is the good management of migrant flows, which is really an instrumental juridical good, through which the legislator intends to protect the whole of public goods constitutionally relevant, which could be negatively affected by uncontrolled immigration<sup>313</sup>. This reveals that the whole reasoning behind the protection

<sup>308</sup> Italian Constitutional Court, Judgement no. 249, 8 July 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> Masera, 2010, p. 1374. <sup>310</sup> Di Chiara, 2010, p. 1057.

<sup>311</sup> *Ibidem*.

<sup>312</sup> Ibidem

<sup>313</sup> Italian Constitutional Court, Judgement no. 250, 8 July 2010, para. 6.3.

of that legitimate interest, the public goods that *could be negatively affected*, also seems to be based on a presumption of danger of irregular immigrants. Thus, one could argue that the arguments used to declare unconstitutional the aggravating circumstance could also be applied to Article 10*bis*.

The Italian Constitutional Court also rejects the argument that the offense under Article 10*bis* violates Article 2 of the Italian Constitution, which refers to the principle of solidarity and the protection of human rights. It states that these principles must be applied in accordance with a correct balance of values<sup>314</sup> and it affirms that immigration law provisions based on an organised migration flow and appropriate reception and integration of foreigners are not *per se* contrary to these principles<sup>315</sup>. However, one could claim that this new provision has in practice the potential to violate the very basic human rights of irregular immigrants and the effect of going against an adequate integration of immigrants, also regular immigrants.

The Constitutional Courts indicated that other EUMS also criminalise irregular entry and stay in their territories. In fact, as it was shown in Chapter 1, in many other countries of the EU, irregular entry and stay constitutes a criminal offense, such as in France, the United Kingdom or Germany.

Other arguments rejected by the Court refer to the violation of Article 3 of the Italian Constitution regarding equality, especially in relation to the unjustified difference in treatment between the crime of irregular immigration, established in Article 10*bis* TUI, and the crime of failing, «without valid grounds,» to follow the order to leave the country given by a superintendent, regulated in Article 14.5(b) TUI<sup>316</sup>. In this sense, it is argued that Article 10*bis* TUI does not respect the principles of culpability and proportionality, because it considers illegal a conduct that may not be reproachable to the agent for legitimate objective or subjective reasons. In fact, Article 10*bis* accepts no exclusions and it is applicable even to minors. Fortunately, in practice, in certain cases, both the police and the judiciary try to find ways around it in order to avoid extremely unreasonable and unjust condemnations.

316 Di Chiara, 2010, p. 1057.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> Italian Constitutional Court, Judgement no. 353, 1997, in Di Chiara, 2010, p. 1057.
<sup>315</sup> Italian Constitutional Court, Judgements no. 192 and no. 44, 2006 and no. 217, 2001, in *Ibidem*.

The non-applicability for the crime of clandestinity of Article 162 of the Italian Penal Code, which allows for the offender of a contravention punished with a fine to pay part of it before the final judgement with the subsequent extinction of the offence, is considerd to raise questions of discrimination and violation of Article 3<sup>317</sup>. The reason for this exclusion is that the offence is of continuous nature. However, the application of a continuous offence with no possible justification could be clearly unfair and unreasonable for those immigrants that cannot be expelled or have no resources or no documents to leave voluntarily.

Recently the Constitutional Court has again rejected an appeal on the constitutional legitimacy of Article 10*bis* TUI declaring it manifestly inadmissible<sup>318</sup>. A Justice of Peace of Florence was the one presenting the appeal and some of his arguments are important, so they will be mentioned here. First, he alleged that the choice to criminalise clandestinity is unreasonable by itself and contrary to the fundamental principles of the Italian criminal system, such as Article 27.3 of the Italian Constitution that establishes that criminal penalties shall be oriented to the re-education of the offender. He also claimed that the use of criminal law to regulate a certain behaviour shall only be used as *extrema* ratio, when there are no other means to achieve the intended objective. In this sense, the criminalisation of clandestiny is not justified, as it does not imply any social danger and the objective being the return of the irregular immigrant was already achieved through the application of Article 13.4 TUI, and thus, through administrative law.

In conclusion, Italian provisions criminalising irregular immigrants have caused a lot of mouvement in the Italian juridical field, due to the widespread conception that these provisions are contrary to established principles of law and fundamental rights.

## 4.2. THE AFTERMATH OF EL DRIDI CASE IN ITALY

## 4.2.1. Italian Judges Applying El Dridi Case

El Dridi case<sup>319</sup>, the most important judgement in Europe for the

319 EUCI, Case C-61/11 PPU.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup> Di Cagno, 2010, pp. 687-693.

Italian Constitutional Court, Judgement no. 193, 15 June 2011.

fight against the criminalisation of irregular immigrants, followed a request made by an Italian court in reference to the compatibility of Article 14.5(b) TUI with the RD. This preliminary question was one of the many that Italian judges rose to the EUCJ since the expiration of the deadline to transpose the RD320. As a consequence, the effects of this judgement have been especially relevant in Italy, bringing some order into the administrative and judicial chaos following the non-transposition of the RD in Italy<sup>321</sup>, and pushing the Italian government to finally transpose the RD.

The facts behind this judgement concerned a TCN called Hassen El Dridi. Mr El Dridi had entered Italy irregularly and in 2004 was subject to a deportation decree. On the basis of Article 14.5(a), in 2010 the Ouestore had issued an order against him to leave the territory of the state within five days. The order was based on the facts that Mr El Dridi had no identification documents, no means of transport were available to deport him and it was not possible for him to be accommodated temporarily at a detention centre, as no places were available<sup>322</sup>. However, Mr El Dridi did not comply with the order and, on the basis of Article 14.5(b), he was sentenced by the District Court of Trento to one year's imprisonment. He then appealed before the Appeal Court of Trento. It was this Appeal Court that asked for a preliminary ruling to the EUCI.

As a result, the EUCJ declared that the RD should be interpreted as precluding a MS's legislation to include provisions such as Article 14.5(b). The ruling is based primarily on the EU principle of sincere cooperation and on the objective of ensuring the effectiveness of EU law<sup>323</sup>. In this sense, it declared that the Italian provision was undermining the effectiveness of the RD. Therefore, the EUCI used a classical hermeneutical instrument of EU law, «the useful effect» principle, which allows the EUCI to give specific answer to the most problematic issues that EU legislative instruments leave unanswered, using vague formulations aimed at reaching compromises<sup>324</sup>.

In what refers to the application of the judgement in Italy, first it is important to remember that national courts should ensure the appli-

<sup>320</sup> Masera & Vigano, 2011.

Masera & Vigano, 2011.

321 Raffaelli, 2011, p. 2.

322 EUCJ, Press Release No. 40/11, Judgment in Case C-61/11 PPU, Hassen El Dridi alias Soufi Karim, Luxembourg, 28 April 2011.

323 Article 4.3 TEU.

324 Masera & Vigano, 2011.

cation and full effect of EU law within their jurisdiction and, if it is not possible to interpret it accordingly, disapply any national provision that is contrary to it<sup>325</sup>. Moreover, national courts will also have to apply the principle of the retroactive application of the more lenient penalty. The judgement of 28 April 2011 has generated an abolitio criminis on the facts criminally sanctioned in Article 14.5(b). Therefore, the Italian law, to which EU law is part, including the dictum of the mentioned judgement, does not contain anymore a criminal offense which provides for a sentence of imprisonment to be imposed on an illegally staving third-country national on the sole basis that he remains, without valid grounds, on the territory of that state, contrary to an order to leave that territory within a given period.

At the time of the ruling, there were between 1,500 and 3,000 people arrested under Article 14 and tens of thousands of condemnatory judgements<sup>326</sup>. Fortunately, Italian judges started immediately to rule the non-application of Article 14.5(b), also retroactively. This was the case of the Criminal Court of Sassari<sup>327</sup>, which few days after the judgement, declared that the offence prescribed in Article 14.5(b) was not prescribed by law anymore as a criminal offence. In this case, both the defence lawver and the Public Prosecutor made reference to the EUCI judgment in the case C-61/11/PPU.

Moreover, following this EUCI judgement, the Italian Corte di Cassazione<sup>328</sup> decided that also the facts sanctioned in Article 14.5(c) are not any more prescribed by law as a criminal offense. The Court considered unnecessary a new judgement from the EUCI in reference to Article 14.5(c) TUI, because this article is also clearly contrary to the RD. The Court also stated that, taking into account the principle of the retroactive application of the more lenient penalty, the fact that the infringed removal orders were prior to the entry into force of the RD, does not prevent the acquaintance of the accused.

Likewise, on 9 May 2011, a Tribunal in Rome<sup>329</sup> declared that, based on the EUCJ judgement El Dridi, also the criminal offence prescribed

Masera & Vigano, 2011.
 Italian Criminal Tribunal of Sassari, Ndiaye C.M, 2 May 2011.

<sup>325</sup> EUCJ, Amministrazione delle Finanze dello Stato v. Simmenthal SpA, Judgement C-106/77, 9 March 1978.

<sup>328</sup> Italian Corte Suprema di Cassazione Sezione Penale, Notizie di Decisione no. 9/2011, 28 April 2011, Judgements no. 1590/2011, no. 1594/2011 and no. 1606/2011.

329 Italian Criminal Tribunal of Rome, 9 May 2011.

in Article 13.13 TUI should be disapplied. This article sanctions the irregular re-entrance in the Italian territory, in violation of an entry ban, with one to four year imprisonment. The Italian Tribunal considers that this provision could jeopardise the attainment of the objective of the RD in the same way as Article 14.5(c).

Therefore, Italian judges have disapplied all national provisions that were contrary to the RD, and not only Article 14.5(b). They have used, although it is not familiar for Italian jurists330, the EU law instrument of the «useful effect,» to disapply national provisions that risked undermining the objective of ensuring the effectiveness of EU law.

Finally, on 23 June 2011, the Italian government enacted a Decree Law<sup>331</sup> intended to transpose the RD and complete the transposition of the Directive 2004/38/EC on the right of citizens of the Union and their family members to move and reside freely within the territory of the member states. Although there is no mention to El Dridi case in the Preamble of the Decree Law, it is clear that the ruling has been taken into account. In fact, this Decree maintains the crimes of Articles 14.5(b) and (c) changing the penalty from imprisonment to an economic penalty and an order of expulsion as an alternative, like for Article 10bis<sup>332</sup>. Additionally, the competence to deal with these criminal offences is given to the Justice of Peace.

This new Decree also introduces, among other measures, the extension of the maximum period of administrative detention from 6 months to 18 months, and allows irregular immigrants to ask for voluntary assisted return programmes. According to Italian experts333, this new Decree Law shows the actual situation of the government, mainly of the party of the Interior Minister<sup>334</sup>. On the one side, they have to accept the instructions coming from the EU, but on the other side, they need to prove that they are taking measures to put into practice their antiimmigration electoral promises. This Decree Law is clearly softer than

<sup>330</sup> Masera & Vigano, 2011. 331 Decree Law 23 June 2011, no. 89: Disposizioni urgenti per il completamento dell'attuazione della direttiva 2004/38/CE sulla libera circolazione dei cittadini comunitari e per il recepimento della direttiva 2008/115/CE sul rimpatrio dei cittadini di Paesi terzi irregolari.

Decreto-Legge 23 giugno 2011, n. 89, Article 3.d) 5).
 Melting Pot, Pubblicato il decreto legge sui rimpatri. Irregolari nei CIE fino a 18 mesi, 24
 June 2011, available at http://www.meltingpot.org/articolo16880.html (consulted on 25 June

<sup>334</sup> La Lega Nord. This party is in the government in a coalition with the Partito della Libertà of Berlusconi.

the «Security Package» of 2008 or 2009. However, it is still based on the same misunderstanding of irregular immigration, focusing on return and looking for ways to continuously punish the irregular immigrant, but completely ignoring the root causes of this issue.

# 4.2.2. Possible Incompatibility of Article 10bis and the Return Directive after El Dridi Case

After the publication of the EUCJ judgement of 28 April 2011, Italian politicians, besides hardly criticising the ruling saying that it made the return of irregularly staying TCN impossible, they quickly clarified that this judgement did not affect the criminal offence stipulated in Article 10*bis*, but only that of Article 14.5(b)<sup>335</sup>. However, certain Italian judges, even before the El Dridi case, already had doubts concerning whether Article 10*bis* could also be considered contrary to the RD. In order to clarify this uncertainty, the 16 March of 2011, the Italian Justice of Peace of Mestre Trucillo sent a request to the EUCJ for a preliminary ruling on the compatibility of this provision with the RD<sup>336</sup>. The referring court asked to the EUCJ if the RD must be interpreted as precluding a MS's legislation, such as Article 10*bis* TUI.

The Italian judge considered that the economic criminal penalty of this offence, substitutable with an order of expulsion, derives directly from the irregularity of the stay, and according to the RD, in that case what member states have to do is to adopt a return decision in the sense of Article 6.1 RD. Moreover, the referring judge wonders whether Article 2.2 b) of the RD should be interpreted as excluding the application of the safeguards provided in the RD to the expulsion of TCN imposed as an alternative sanction, such as the one stipulated in Article 16.1 TUI, following the commission of an offence punishing the mere entry or stay in the national territory of the state, as the one provided in Article 10*bis* TUI. In this way, the referring judge considers that the Italian legislator has tried to avoid the application of the safeguards given by the RD, including the preference for a voluntary return.

336 Reference for a preliminary ruling from the Giudice di pace di Mestre lodged on 24 March 2011, Criminal proceedings against Asad Abdallah, Case C-144/11.

<sup>335</sup> Ue: «Clandestini non punibili con carcere» Maroni: «Rischio espulsioni impossibili», in «La Repubblica», 28 April 2011, Bruxelles, available at http://www.repubblica.it/esteri/2011/04/28/news/corte\_ue\_boccia\_reato\_di\_clandestinit-15471497/?ref=HRER1-1 (consulted on 29 April 2011).

There are other judges and jurists that have argued that Article 10bis is contrary to the RD and, thus, shall be dissapplied. For example, the Justice of Peace of Torino, on 22 February 2011, ruled that Article 10bis does not comply with the guarantee of voluntary return given by Article 7 RD, and has acquitted a TCN accused of the crime of clandestinity. Also Rosa Raffaelli, a post-doctoral researcher in criminal law at the Scuola Sant'Anna, concludes that «[i]f the Court will confirm its interpretation in its future decisions, criminalising irregular immigration and punishing it with either detention or expulsion will no longer be a viable option in the national immigration policies of EU Member States<sup>337</sup>.»

In this sense, the Italian judge Lorenzo Miazzi<sup>338</sup> believes that Article 10bis TUI is clearly not in accordance with the RD and thus. it is his obligation, as a EU national judge, to dissapply this provision, not being necessary to ask the EUCJ for a preliminary ruling. This judge admits that, prima facie, El Dridi case does not affect directly the crime of clandestinity under Article 10bis TUI, because this offence is only punished with an economic penalty and not with imprisonment. However, he considers that this provision is also contrary to the principle of sincere cooperation, and it risks undermining the effectiveness of the Directive.

First, he argues that the order of forced return given as an alternative sanction to the offence of Article 10bis TUI<sup>339</sup> cannot be considered to be excluded from the application of the guarantees stipulated in the Directive. in the sense of Article 2.2. b) of the RD. This is because, on the one hand, the possibility of non-applicability given by that article of the RD needs a legislative instrument that specifically defines which orders of return must be considered to be under that possibility of exclusion, which does not exist in Italy. On the other hand, he refers to the El Dridi case, when the EUCI stated that «the criminal penalties referred to in that provision (Article 2.2 b) RD) do not relate to noncompliance with the period granted for voluntary departure<sup>340</sup>.» He claims that the Court implied that not all criminal penalties are included under Article 2.2 b), but only those not related to the irregular

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>337</sup> Raffaelli, 2011, p. 18. <sup>338</sup> Email from Lorenzo Miazzi, Italian judge, 21 June 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> Article 16.1 TUI: order of expulsion with an entry ban of at least 5 years. <sup>340</sup> EUCJ, Case C-61/11 PPU, para. 49.

entry or stay. Additionally, Miazzi argues that, in accordance with the principle of the «useful effect» of EU law, Article 2.2 b) should be interpreted restrictively.

Additionally, the Italian Interior Minister declared that the crime of clandestinity, introduced in 2009, had the aim of eluding the application of the RD to most expulsions in Italy, and thus, avoiding having to change most national legislative provisions on return. This shows, according to Miazzi, a clear violation of the principle of sincere cooperation. He argues that the enactment of a law stipulating such a crime was legitimate before the entry into force of the RD. However, Miazzi claims that once the RD entered into force, the introduction of a crime punishing the irregular entry and stay of TCN, which is the status directly regulated by the Directive, implies a violation of Article 4.3 TUE, because it is undermining the effectiveness of the RD. This is more so when it is clear that the intention was to avoid the application of the guarantees of the Directive. Furthermore, he states that the order of return given as a substitutory sanction for the Italian crime of clandestinty is contrary to those guarantees, specifically Article 7.1<sup>341</sup>, as it does not allow for a voluntary return.

Therefore, Lorenzo Miazzi concludes that the introduction of the crime of clandestinity by the Italian legislator, creating a criminal return process parallel to the administrative one, based on the same behaviour, is intended to undermine the ordinary administrative procedure regulated by the RD, in order to avoid the application of the guarantees offered by that Directive. In conclusion, in his opinion, Article 10*bis* is clearly not in accordance with the RD and must, therefore, be disapplied by Italian national judges.

I would also like to bring here two of the limitations to criminalisation of clandestinity that I argued were given by the EUCJ in El Dridi case. The first referred to the need that any criminal penalty adjusts to the principles of proportionality, effectiveness and reasonableness. In this sense, as it has already been argued by the Italian Justice of Peace of Florence in front of the Italian Constitutional Court<sup>342</sup>, the penalty stipulated by Article 10*bis* is not reasonable or proportionate as a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup> Article 7.1 RD establishes that, except certain cases, a period for voluntary return should be given to all TCN. This provision has been considered self-executing by Italian judges, such as Justice of Peace of Alessandria, 6 May 2011.

<sup>342</sup> EUCJ, Case C-61/11 PPU, para. 57.

criminal penalty. Likewise, it does not seem effective, as most irregular immigrants won't be able to pay it, and the substitutory penalty of removal was not necessary because there was already an administrative mechanism to remove irregular TCN in place.

The second possible limit to criminalisation requested that irregular entry and stay should only be criminalised when all other measures have failed<sup>343</sup>. This is not the case of the Italian crime of clandestinity, which is designed as the immediate consequence of irregularity, parallel to the administrative procedure.

In conclusion, there are strong arguments to consider that the RD precludes a MS's legislation such as Article 10*bis*, criminalising irregular stay and entry with an economic penalty and an order of forced removal as an alternative penalty.

<sup>343</sup> *Ibidem*, paras. 52 and 60.

## **CHAPTER 5** CONCLUSION

The problem of irregular immigration is mainly caused by an unequal distribution of global welfare and sustained poverty. It is thus a social problem. However the EU and EUMS have decided to adopt a security-driven approach, which should urgently be revised. The EU immigration policy uses an obscure formula combining narrow channels of regular immigration together with repressive immigration policies. The result of that formula is an immigrant population constrained into irregularity, easily exploitable, which at the same time, serves as the scapegoat for all the mistakes made by the European governments and the EU itself. Therefore, the EU should, once for all, develop evidencebased policies that reduce the tensions between the elimination of undocumented migration and the respect of the rights of these immigrants<sup>344</sup>.

The AFSI of the EU is the area where governments are allowed to use the most invasive forms of state action towards individuals allowed in democratic constitutional systems<sup>345</sup> and thus, its development should be accompanied by the developing of a stronger monitoring human rights system. Before the Treaty of Lisbon, EU law on the field of immigration had to be adopted unanimously. As a consequence, vague formulations aimed at solving conflicts over controversial issues were very common<sup>346</sup>. Most of those EU measures on immigration set minimum standards, however, they were full of vague formulations referred to human rights, leaving unclear the specific rights and obligations that

<sup>344</sup> Carrera & Merlino, 2009, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup> Monar, 2010. <sup>346</sup> Hailbronner, 2010, p. 5.

EUMS had to respect and fulfil. After the Treaty of Lisbon, EU competence on migration has been extended to create uniform standards. and decisions will be adopted with qualified majority. This leads to an increased responsibility of the EU on the human rights compliance in the field of immigration. The new binding nature of the EU Charter, together with the now unrestricted jurisdiction of the EUCI, allows for a consequent increase of accountability of the EU on the respect of human rights in this field. This will, hopefully, help to put human rights compliance at the heart of the legitimacy and legality of EU law and policy on immigration<sup>347</sup>.

The European integration process by itself is a long-term vision project, vet currently politics in general are dominated by short-term vision policies and Europe is no exception. Xenophobic measures against immigrants, such as the criminalisation of irregular immigrants, are a clear example of these very popular short-term vision policies. In fact, during the last years, xenophobic forces have entered or reinforced their power in many member states, such as Finland, the United Kingdom, Italy, the Netherlands or Denmark. Recent developments, such as the request by Sarkozy and Berlusconi of revising Schengen, or the Danish decision to reintroduce some forms of border controls, show that immigration issues taken from a nationalistic and intolerant perspective are at the heart of the questioning of the European project.

Therefore, the EU has to realise that in order to continue with the European project, important measures should be taken also in the field of migration, and mostly of irregular migration. The EU has to redefine its position, which should have European values and the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights as the guiding tools. Article 7 TEU provides for a sanctioning mechanism in case of serious and persistent breach by a MS of the values of Article 2 TEU, meaning tolerance, solidarity, nondiscrimination or respect for human rights and human dignity. However, under the current state-of-affairs, governments and European institutions seem to be only willing to «sanction those countries that fail to comply with the rules on budget deficit<sup>348</sup>.» This should change and

Torreblanca, 2011.

<sup>347</sup> Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, Criminalisation of Migration in Europe: Human Rights Implications, Issue Paper commissioned and published by Thomas Hammarberg, Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, Strasbourg, 4 February 2010, CommDH/IssuePaper (2010)1, p. 27.

governments and European institutions should clearly condemn all xenophobic actions taken by MS and should use all the mechanisms at their disposal to do so.

The EUCJ case of 28 April 2011 has shown the positive effect that the EU could have in the fight against the criminalisation of irregular immigrants in EUMS. Following this case, it can be stated that MS cannot adopt criminal provisions that may delay or obstruct the return of TCN according to the Return Directive. Consequently, this judgement could be interpreted as precluding all kind of criminalisation of irregular immigrants in most of EUMS's legislation.

Some Italian judges have already applied this interpretation. They have acquitted irregular immigrants from the crime of clandestinity, arguing that it was contrary to EU law. In general, Italian judges, prosecutors and scholars have shown high ethics in dealing with the criminalisation of irregular immigrants. The competent judges have repeatedly requested to the Italian Constitutional Court about the constitutionality of these provisions. They have tried to find procedural ways to absolve irregular immigrants and when the RD became self-executing, they have applied it and asked for preliminary rulings to the EUCJ. This also reflects the importance of an independent judiciary in a democratic country. A judiciary that makes continuous reference to human rights. They used the EU institutions to avoid the terrible consequences of a populist and xenophobic government.

The criminalisation of undocumented immigrants can be seen as a turning point in any national policy on immigration. It is a political decision that defines the way society confronts the phenomenon and it also determines the way immigrants will relate to the hosting society. The EU is going through a difficult moment, both from an economic and an «ideal» point of view. It is destined to depend on immigration for its economic recovery and it may also depend on its approach to immigration for its moral or ideal revival. A change of policy that clearly rejects the criminalisation of irregular immigration and starts looking at irregular immigration as a social issue that should be solved with long-term, development-based measures, may be a good solution.

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

#### ARTICLES AND BOOKS

- Bigo, D., Criminalisation of «Migrants»: The Side Effect of the Will to Control the Frontiers and the Sovereign Illusion, in B. Bogusz, R. Cholewinski, A. Cygan, E. Szyszczak (eds.), Irregular Migration and Human Rights: Theoretical, European and International Perspectives, Leiden-Boston, Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 2004, pp. 61-91.
- Boeles, P., den Heijer, M., Lodder, G., Wouters, K., European Migration Law, Antwerp-Oxford-Portland, Intersentia, 2009.
- Bos, L., van der Brug, W., *Public Images of Leaders of Anti-immigration Parties: Perceptions of Legitimacy and Effectiveness*, in «Party Politics», vol. 16, no. 6, November 2010, pp. 777-799.
- Boswell, C., *Migration in Europe*, a paper prepared for the Policy Analysis and Research Programme of the Global Commission on International Migration, 2005, available at http://www.gcim.org/attachements/RS4.pdf (consulted on 17 April 2011).
- Carrera, S., Merlino, M. (eds.), Assessing EU Policy on Irregular Immigration under the Stockholm Programme, Centre for European Policy Studies (CEPS), Liberty and Security in Europe, Brussels, October 2010.
- Carrera, S., Merlino, M., Undocumented Immigrants and Rights in the EU: Addressing the Gap Between Social Science Research and Policy-making in the Stockholm Programme?, Centre for European Policy Studies (CEPS), Liberty and Security in Europe, Brussels, December 2009.
- Cholewinski, R., The Criminalisation of Migration in EU Law and Policy, in A. Baldaccini, E. Guild, H. Toner (eds.), Whose Freedom, Security and Justice? EU Immigration and Asylum Law and Policy, Portland, Hart Publishing, 2007, pp. 301-336.
- Cholewinski, R., *Identifying and Clarifying Concepts on «Irregular» Migration*, Paper presented at the 10th Regional Conference on Migration, Migrant Forum in Asia and Singapore National Trade Union Congress, 6-7 November 2006, available at http://www.mfasia.org/mfaResources/R-Cholewinski-Concepts.pdf (consulted on 13 April 2011).
- Contento, G., Il fenomeno della immigrazione clandestina: aspetti penali e di

- prevenzione criminale, in Atti del Convegno di Studi di Diritto Penale, Il fenomeno della immigrazione clandestina: aspetti penali e di prevenzione criminales, Bari, Cacucci Editore, 1996, pp. 113-118.
- Di Cagno, E., Ingresso e permanenza illegale dello straniero nel territorio dello stato, in «Rivista Penale», no. 7-8, 2010, pp. 687-693.
- Di Chiara, G., Osservatorio Corte Costituzionale. Giudizio direttissimo e controllo sulla flagranza del reato, in «Diritto Penale e Processo», vol. 9, 2010, pp. 1054-1059.
- Epidendio, T., *Direttiva rimpatri e art. 14 t.u. immigrazione*, 2011, available at http://www.penalecontemporaneo.it/materia/3-/41-/-/332-direttiva\_rimpatri\_e\_art\_\_14\_t\_u\_\_immigrazione/ (consulted on 31 March 2011).
- Ette, A., Faist, T., The Europeanization of National Policies and Politics of Immigration: Research, Questions and Concepts, in A. Ette, T. Faist (eds.), The Europeanization of National Policies and Politics of Immigration: Between Autonomy and the European Union, Hampshire-New York, Palgrave Macmillan, 2007, pp. 3-31.
- Fasani, F., Country Report on Italy, CLANDESTINO Undocumented Migration: Counting the Uncountable. Data and Trends Across Europe, DG, European Commission 2009, available at http://irregular-migration.hwwi.de/Country-reports.6114.0.html (consulted on 1 June 2011).
- Favilli, C., La competenza dell'Unione europea in materia di visti, asilo e immigrazione alla luce del trattato di Lisbona, 2009, available at http://www.asgi.it/home\_asgi.php?n=documenti&id=1646&l=it (consulted on 13 April 2011).
- Feket, L., *Europe: Crimes of Solidarity*, in «Institute of Race Relations», vol. 50, no. 4, 2009, pp. 83-97.
- Fitchew, G., *The Lisbon European Reform Treaty Impact on Asylum and Immigration Policy*, 2008, available at http://www.migrationwatchuk.org/Briefingpaper/document/82 (consulted on 8 June 2011).
- Guild, E., Who Is an Irregular Migrant?, in B. Bogusz, R. Cholewinski, A. Cygan, E. Szyszczak (eds.), Irregular Migration and Human Rights: Theoretical, European and International Perspectives, Leiden-Boston, Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 2004, pp. 3-28.
- Guild, E., Carrera, S., *Towards an Internal (In)security Strategy for the EU?*, Centre for European Policy Studies (CEPS), Liberty and Security in Europe, Brussels, January 2011.
- Guild, E., Minderhoud, P. (eds.), Immigration and Criminal Law in the European Union: The Legal Measures and Social Consequences of Criminal Law in Member States on Trafficking and Smuggling in Human Beings, Leiden-Boston, Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 2006.
- Hailbronner, K., *Implications of the EU Lisbon Treaty on EU Immigration Law*, Fourth Workshop of the Transatlantic Exchange for Academics in Migration Studies, San Diego, 29-30 March 2010, at Centre for International and European Law on Immigration and Asylum, available at http://migration.ucdavis.edu/rs/files/2010/hailbronner-implications-of-the-eu-lisbon-treaty.pdf (consulted on 30 May 2011).
- Jandl, M., Vogel, D., Iglicka, K., Report on Methodological Issues, CLAN-

DESTINO, Athens, October 2008, available at http://clandestino.eliamep.gr/wp-content/uploads/2009/10/clandestino\_report-on-methodo-

logical-issues\_final12.pdf (consulted on 12 June 2011).

- Kate, M.-A., Niessen, J., *Guide to Locating Migration Policies in the European Commission 2nd Edition*, published by EPIM and MPG, October 2008, available at http://www.migpolgroup.com/public/docs/137.GuidetoLocatingMigrationPoliciesintheECII\_31.10.08.pdf (consulted on 5 June 2011).
- Lanza, E., Gli stranieri e il diritto penale, Milano, CEDAM, 2011.
- Masera, L., Corte Costituzionale ed immigrazione: le ragioni di una scelta compromissoria, in «Rivista italiana di diritto e procedura penale», no. 3, 2010, pp. 1373-1395.
- Masera, L., Vigano, F., *Addio articolo* 14, 2011, available at http://www.penalecontemporaneo.it/area/3-/-/-/572-addio\_articolo\_14/ (consulted on 1 June 2011).
- Merlino, M., Parkin, J., Irregular Migration in Europe: EU Policies and the Fundamental Rights Gap, Centre for European Policy Studies (CEPS) Report, 2011(a).
- Merlino, M., Parkin, J., Fundamental and Human Rights Framework: Protecting Irregular Migrants in the EU, Centre for European Policy Studies (CEPS) Report, 2011(b).
- Miller, T.A., A New Look at Neo-Liberal Economic Policies and the Criminalization of Un-documented Migration, in «SMU Law Review», no. 171, Winter 2008, pp. 1-16.
- Noll, G., Why Human Rights Fail to Protect Undocumented Migrants, in «European Journal of Migration and Law», no. 12, 2010, pp. 241-272.
- Onorato, G., Sentenza della Corte di Giustizia UE- Al riconosciuto carattere self executing della direttiva in relazione al reato di inottemperanza all'ordine del questore consegue l'assoluzione perché il fatto non è più previsto dalla legge come reato, 2011, available at http://www.meltingpot.org/articolo16764. html (consulted on 19 May 2011).
- Palermo, P., *La «clandestinità»: storia di «evoluzioni» criminali*, in «Rivista Penale», no. 9, 2010, pp. 815-826.
- Paleologo, F.V., *Diritti di difesa sotto sequestro*, 2011, available at http://www.meltingpot.org/articolo16826.html (consulted on 8 June 2011).
- Raffaelli, R., Criminalizing Irregular Immigration and the Returns Directive. An Analysis of the El Dridi Case, 2011, available at http://www.stranieriinitalia.com/briguglio/immigrazione-e-asilo/2011/maggio/raffaelli-cgue-c-61-2011. pdf (consulted on 23 June 2011).
- Salt, J., Trafficking and Human Smuggling: A European Perspective, in «International Migration», Special Issue 2000/1, IOM 2000, Oxford-Malden, Blackwell Publishers Ltd, 2000, available at http://lastradainternational.org/lsidocs/538%20pdf.pdf (consulted on 5 June 2011).
- Stumpf, J., *The Crimmigration Crisis: Immigrants, Crime, and Sovereign Power*, in «American University Law Review», vol. 56, no. 2, 2006, pp. 367-419.
- Vermeulen, G., Mutual Instrumentalization of Criminal and Migration Law

from an EU Perspective, in «European Journal of Migration and Law», vol. 9, 2007, pp. 347-361.

## OFFICIAL DOCUMENTS

## European Union

- European Commission, Report to the Council regarding Bulgaria in the perspective of the adoption of the Regulation determining the list of third countries whose nationals must be in possession of visas when crossing the external borders and those whose nationals are exempt of that requirement, COM (2001) 61, 2 February 2001.
- EU (2002/C 142/02), Proposal for a Comprehensive Plan to Combat Illegal Immigration and Trafficking of Human Beings in the European Union, OJ C 142/23, 14 June 2002.
- European Union Return Action Programme, adopted by the Justice and Hume Affairs Council on 28 November 2002.
- European Commission, Report from the Commission to the Council- Exemption of Rumanian Citizens from Visa Requirements, COM (2001) 361, 29 June 2001 or European Commission, 2003 Regular Report on Romania's Progress Towards Accession, SEC(2003) 1211/1, 5 November 2003.
- Opinion of the European Data Protection Supervisor on the Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council concerning the Visa Information System and the exchange of data between Member Sates on short-stay visas, COM (2004) 835 final, OJ C 181/13, 23 July 2005.
- European Commission, Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on common standards and procedures in member states for returning illegally staying third-country nationals, COM (2005) 391 final, 1 September 2005.
- Commission of the European Communities, Communication COM (2006) 402 final on policy priorities in the fight against illegal immigration of third-country nationals, Brussels, 19 July 2006.
- EU, Proposal of a Council Directive, COM (2007) 638 final, on a single application procedure for a single permit for third-country nationals to reside and work in the territory of a member state and on a common set of rights for third-country workers legally residing in a member state, 2007/0229 (CNS), Brussels, 23 October 2007.
- Council of the European Union, European Pact on Immigration and Asylum, 13189/08 ASIM 68, Brussels, 24 September 2008.
- Council of the EU, Results of the Data Collection Exercise Document 13267/09, Brussels, 22 September 2009.
- European Commission, Amended Proposal for a Regulation of the EP and of the Council on establishing an Agency for the operational management of large-scale IT systems in the area of freedom, security and justice, COM(2010)93 final, 2009/0089/P (COD), Brussels, 19 March 2010.
- Council of the European Union, (2010/C 115/01), The Stockholm Programme:

- An Open and Secure Europe Serving and Protecting Citizens, 5731/10, Brussels, 3 March 2010, OJ C115/1, 4 May 2010.
- European Commission COM(2011) 76 final Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council Evaluation of EU Readmission Agreements, Brussels, 23 February 2011.
- European Commission, COM(2011) 160 final «Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions 2010 Report on the Application of the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights» SEC(2011) 396 final, Brussels, 30 March 2011.
- European Commission, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Communication on migration, COM(2011) 248 final, Brussels, 4 May 2011.

## Council of Europe

- Council of Europe, Twenty Guidelines on Forced Return, September 2005, available at http://www.coe.int/t/dg3/migration/Source/MalagaRegConf/20\_Guidelines\_Forced\_Return\_en.pdf (consulted on 23 April 2011).
- The Council of Europe Parliamentary Assembly, Resolution 1509 Human Rights of Irregular Migrants, adopted on 27 June 2006.
- Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe, Recommendation 1807 (2007), Regularisation Programmes for Irregular Migrants, adopted on 1 October 2007.
- Council of the European Union, Council Conclusions on enhancing the Global Approach to Migration, 2878th General Affairs Council meeting, Luxembourg, 16 June 2008.
- Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, Report by Thomas Hammarberg, Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, following his visit to Italy on 13-15 January 2009, Strasbourg, 16 April 2009, CommDH(2009)16.
- Office of the Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, *Human Rights in Europe: Time to Honour Our Pledges. Viewpoints by the Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, Thomas Hammarberg*, Strasbourg, April 2009, available at http://www.coe.int/t/commissioner/Viewpoints/publication2009 EN.pdf (consulted on 14 May 2011).
- Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, *Criminalisation of Migration in Europe: Human Rights Implications*, Issue Paper commissioned and published by Thomas Hammarberg, Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, Strasbourg, 4 February 2010, CommDH/IssuePaper (2010)1.
- Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, Positions on the rights of migrants in an irregular situation, CommDH/PositionPaper(2010)5, Strasbourg, 24 June 2010.

## International

- General Assembly, Measures to ensure the human rights of all migrant workers, 3449, 2433rd plenary meeting, 9 December 1975.
- International Labour Conference, Resolution Concerning a Fair Deal for Migrant Workers in a Global Economy, Ninety-second Session, Geneva, 2004, extracted from the Report of the Committee on Migrant Workers, Geneva, 2004.
- UN Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, General Comment No. 30: Discrimination against non-citizens, 1 October 2004.
- UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, General Comment No. 6: Treatment of unaccompanied and separated children outside their country of origin, CRC/GC/2005/6, 1 September 2005.
- UN Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, General Recommendation No. 26 on women migrant workers, CEDAW/C/2009/WP.1/R., 5 December 2008.
- Human Rights Council, Fourteenth session, Agenda item 6, A/HRC/14/4, Universal Periodic Review Report of the Working Group on the Universal Periodic Review: Italy, 18 March 2010.

#### REPORTS

- CLANDESTINO Project, Final Report, 23 November 2009, available at http://clandestino.eliamep.gr/wp-content/uploads/2010/03/clandestino-final-report\_-november-2009.pdf (consulted on 12 June 2011).
- PICUM, Platform for International Cooperation on Undocumented Migrants, Undocumented Migrants Have Rights! An Overview of the International Human Rights Framework, Beëlzepub, Brussels, March 2007.
- European Migration Network, Ad-Hoc Query on criminal penalties against illegally entering or staying third-country nationals, Requested by COM on 13 July 2009, Compilation produced on 21st September 2009, available at http://emn.intrasoft-intl.com/Downloads/prepareShowFiles.do;jsessionid=BD27082A8BAE4A52C48903CF29324459?entryTitle=illegal%20Immigra tion (consulted on 15 May 2011).
- European Migration Network, *Ad-Hoc Query on Return Directive*, compilation produced on 22 March 2010.
- The European Union Fundamental Rights Agency, European Union Minorities and Discrimination Survey, Data In Focus Report 4: Police Stops and Minorities, VieNna, 2010, available at http://fra.europa.eu/fraWebsite/attachments/EU-MIDIS-police.pdf (consulted on 1 June 2011).
- The European Union Fundamental Rights Agency, *The Stockholm Programme:* A Chance to Put Fundamental Rights Protection Right in the Centre of the European Agenda, Vienna, 14 July 2009, available at http://www.fra.europa.eu/fraWebsite/attachments/FRA-comments-on-Stockholm-Programme.pdf (consulted on 31 May 2011).

## LEGISLATIVE INSTRUMENTS

## Italian

- Costituzione della Repubblica italiana, Gazzetta Ufficiale della Repubblica Italiana n. 298, entry into force on 1 January 1948.
- Legislative Decree No. 286/1998 of 25 July 1998 consolidating the provisions regulating immigration and the rules relating to the status of foreign national (Ordinary Supplement to GURI No. 191 of 18 August 1998), as amended by Law No. 94 of 15 July 2009 on public security (Ordinary Supplement to GURI No. 170 of 24 July 2009).
- Decree Law no. 241, 14 September 2004, became Law no. 271, 12 November 2004.
- Law No. 94 of 15 July 2009 on public security, Ordinary Supplement to GURI No. 170 of 24 July 2009.
- Ministero dell'Interno, Dipartamento della Pubblica sicurezza, Circolare no. 400, 17 December 2010.
- Ministero dell'Interno, Dipartamento della Pubblica sicurezza, Circolare no. 1305, 1 April 2011.
- Decree Law 23 June 2011, no. 89: Disposizioni urgenti per il completamento dell'attuazione della direttiva 2004/38/CE sulla libera circolazione dei cittadini comunitari e per il recepimento della direttiva 2008/115/CE sul rimpatrio dei cittadini di Paesi terzi irregolari.

## European Union

- Protocol on the position of the UK and Ireland annexed to the Treaty of Amsterdam, OJ C 340, 10 November 1997.
- Protocol on the position of the Denmark annexed to the Treaty of Amsterdam, OJ C 340, 10 November 1997.
- Protocol integrating the Schengen *acquis* into the framework of the European Union, OJ C 340, 10 November 1997.
- The Schengen *acquis* Decision of the Central Group of 27 October 1998 on the adoption of measures to fight illegal immigration (SCH/C (98) 117).
- The Schengen *acquis* as referred to in Article 1(2) of Council Decision 1999/435/EC of 20 May 1999, OJ L239, 22 September 2000.
- Directive 2000/43/EC implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin, OJ L 180, 19 July 2000.
- Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union (2000/Č 364/01), OJ C 364/1, 18 December 2000.
- Council Directive 2001/40/EC of 28 May 2001 on the mutual recognition of decisions on the expulsion of third country nationals, OJ L 149, 2 June 2001.
- Council Directive 2001/51/EC of 28 June 2001 supplementing the provisions of Article 26 of the Convention Implementing the Schengen Agreement of 14 June 1985, OJ L 187/46, 10 July 2001.
- Council Framework Decision (2002/629/JHA) of 19 July 2002 on combating trafficking in human beings, OJ L 203, 1 August 2002.

- Council Directive 2002/90/EC of 28 November 2002 defining the facilitation of unauthorised entry, transit and residence, in OJ L 328, 5 December 2002.
- Council Framework Decision of 28 November 2002 on the strengthening of the penal framework to prevent the facilitation of unauthorised entry, transit and residence, (2002/946/JHA), OJ L 328/1, 5 December 2002.
- Council Directive 2003/110/EC of 25 November 2003 on assistance in cases of transit for the purposes of removal by air, OJ L 321, 6 December 2003.
- Directive 2004/38/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 on the right of citizens of the Union and their family members to move and reside freely within the territory of the member states amending Regulation (EEC) No. 1612/68 and repealing Directives 64/221/EEC, 68/360/EEC, 72/194/EEC, 73/148/EEC, 75/34/EEC, 75/35/EEC, 90/364/EEC, 90/365/EEC and 93/96/EECart, OJ L 158/77, 30 April 2004.
- Council Decision 2004/573/EC of 29 April 2004 on the organisation of joint flights for removals from the territory of two or more member states, of third-country nationals who are subjects of individual removal orders, OJ L 261, 6 August 2004.
- Council Decision 2006/619/EC of 24 July 2006 on the conclusion, on behalf of the European Community, of the Protocol to prevent, suppress and punish trafficking in human beings, especially women and children, supplementing the United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organised Crime concerning the provisions of the Protocol, in so far as the provisions of the Protocol fall within the scope of Part III, Title IV of the Treaty establishing the European Community, OJ L 262 of 22 September 2006.
- Council Decision 2006/617/EC of 24 July 2006 on the conclusion, on behalf of the European Community, of the Protocol against the smuggling of migrants by land, sea and air, supplementing the United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organised Crime concerning the provisions of the Protocol, in so far as the provisions of the Protocol fall within the scope of Part III, Title IV of the Treaty establishing the European Community, OJ L 262 of 22 September 2006.
- Regulation (EČ) No. 562/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 March 2006 establishing a Community Code on the rules governing the movement of persons across borders (Schengen Borders Code) in relation to the Convention Implementing the Schengen Agreement of 14 June 1985 between the Governments of the States of the Benelux Economic Union, the Federal Republic of Germany and the French Republic on the gradual abolition of checks at their common borders, OJ L 239, 22 September 2000.
- Council Decision of 28 February 2008 implementing Regulation (EC) No. 168/2007 as regards the adoption of a Multi-annual Framework for the European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights for 2007-2012, (2008/203/EC), OJ L 063, 7 March 2008.
- Directive 2008/115/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on common standards and procedures in member states for returning illegally staying third-country nationals, OJ L 348/98, 24 December 2008.
- Directive 2009/52/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18

- June 2009 providing for minimum standards on sanctions and measures against employers of illegally staying third-country nationals, OJ L 168/24, 30 June 2009.
- Court of Justice, Consolidated Version of the Rules of Procedure of the Court of Justice (2010/C 177/01), OJ C 177/1, 2 July 2010.
- Commission Decision of 21 January 2011 on adopting the annual work programme for 2011 for the specific programme on the «Prevention of and Fight against Crime» as part of the General Programme «Security and Safeguarding Liberties», C (2011) 131 final, Brussels, 21 January 2011.
- Directive 2011/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 April 2011 on preventing and combating trafficking in human beings and protecting its victims, and replacing Council Framework Decision 2002/629/JHA, OJ 101/1, 15 April 2011.

## Council of Europe

- Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms as amended by Protocols no. 11 and no. 14, Rome, 4 November 1950, entry into force on 3 September 1953.
- European Social Charter, Turin, 18 October 1961, entry into force on 26 February 1965.
- Council of Europe Convention on Action Against Trafficking in Human Beings, Warsaw, 16 May 2005, entry into force on 1 February 2008.

#### International

- Universal Declaration of Human Rights, proclaimed by the United Nations General Assembly in Paris on 10 December 1948 General Assembly Resolution 217 A (III).
- Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees, adopted on 28 July 1951 by the United Nations Conference of Plenipotentiaries on the Status of Refugees and Stateless Persons convened under General Assembly Resolution 429 (V) of 14 December 1950, entry into force on 22 April 1954.
- International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, adopted and opened for signature and ratification by General Assembly Resolution 2106 (XX) of 21 December 1965, entry into force on 4 January 1969.
- International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, adopted and opened for signature, ratification and accession by General Assembly Resolution 2200A (XXI) of 16 December 1966, entry into force on 23 March 1976.
- Convention 143 Concerning Migrations in Abusive Conditions and the Promotion of Equality of Opportunity and Treatment of Migrant Workers, adopted on 24 June 1975 in the 60th ILO Conference, entry into force on 9 December 1978.
- Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women, New York, 18 December 1979, adopted and opened for signature and ratification on 18 December 1979.

Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, adopted and opened for signature, ratification and accession by General Assembly Resolution 39/46 of 10 December 1984, entry into force on 26 June 1987.

Convention on the Rights of the Child, adopted and opened for signature, ratification and accession by General Assembly Resolution 44/25 of 20

November 1989, entry into force on 2 September 1990.

International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families, adopted by General Assembly Resolution 45/158 of 18 December 1990.

United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organised Crime and the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organised Crime, and the Protocol against the Smuggling of Migrants by Land, Sea and Air, supplementing the United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organised Crime, adopted by General Assembly Resolution 55/25 of 15 November 2000.

## CASE-LAW AND OTHER JUDICIAL ACTS

ECtHRD, *H. and Others v. Czech Republic*, 57325/00, Council of Europe: European Court of Human Rights, 7 February 2006.

ECtHR, N. v. Sweden, 23505/09, Council of Europe: European Court of Human Rights, 20 July 2010.

ECtHR, *Gillberg v. Sweden*, 41723/06, Council of Europe: European Court of Human Rights, 2 November 2010.

ECtHR, *Ternovszky v. Hungary*, 67545/09, Council of Europe: European Court of Human Rights, 14 December 2010.

EUCJ, Commission v. the Council, C-176/03, 13 September 2005.

EUCJ, Kadzoev, C-357/09 PPU, 30 November 2009.

EUCJ, Amministrazione delle Finanze dello Stato v. Simmenthal SpA, Judgement C-106/77, 9 March 1978.

EUCJ, Hassen El Dridi alias Soufi Karim, Judgment C-61/11 PPU, 28 April 2011. European Committee on Social Rights, International Federation for Human Rights (FIDH) v. France, Collective Complaint no. 14/2003, Decision on the merits of 8 September 2004.

French Conseil d'État, avis 21 March 2011.

French Court d'appel de Nîmes, Cabinet du Premier President, Ordonnance de Référé rendue au fond le 6 mai 2011.

Italian Constitutional Court, Judgement no. 249, 8 July 2010.

Italian Constitutional Court, Judgement no. 250, 8 July 2010.

Italian Constitutional Court, Judgement no. 359, 17 December 2010.

Italian Constitutional Court, Judgement no. 193, 15 June 2011.

Italian Tribunal of Torino, 15 January 2011.

Italian Corte di Cassazione no. 16453, 24 February 2011.

Italian Corte Suprema di Cassazione Sezione Penale, Notizie di Decisione no.

9/2011, 28 April 2011, Judgements no. 1590/2011, no. 1594/2011 and no. 1606/2011.

Italian Criminal Tribunal of Sassari, Ndiaye C.M, 2 May 2011.

Italian Justice of Peace of Alessandria, 6 May 2011.

Italian Criminal Tribunal of Roma, 9 May 2011.

Reference for a preliminary ruling from the Giudice di pace di Mestre lodged on 24 March 2011, Criminal proceedings against Asad Abdallah, Case C-144/11.

#### OTHER

ADDE, Fasti, Gisti, La Cimade, Pratiques, Le cahiers de médecine utopique, SAF, SMG and Syndicat de la migistrature, Action Collective: «Vers la fin de la pénalisation du séjour irrégulier», Paris, 29 April 2011, available at http://www.gisti.org/spip.php?article2283 (consulted on 8 June 2011).

Amnesty International, EU Office Reaction to Return Directive Vote, 18 June 2008, available at http://www.amnesty.eu/en/press-releases/all/amnesty-international-eu-office-reaction-to-return-directive-vote-0363/?cfid=12&id=366&cat=4&l=1 (consulted on 2 June 2011).

Castagnoli, C., *Immigration Policy*, European Parliament, 2010, available at http://www.europarl.europa.eu/ftu/pdf/en//FTU\_4.12.3.pdf (consulted on 10 June 2011).

Everyone group, *Italy: Law 94/2009 Is a Serious Violation of Human Rights*, 17 October 2009, available at http://www.everyonegroup.com/EveryOne/MainPage/Entries/2009/10/17\_Italy\_Law\_94\_2009\_is\_a\_serious\_violation\_of\_Human\_Rights.html (consulted on 27 April 2011).

Email from Lorenzo Miazzi, Italian judge, 21 June 2011.

EU: Stockholm, Population, Discrimination, in «Migration News», vol. 17, no. 1, January 2010, available at http://migration.ucdavis.edu/mn/comments. php?id=3573\_0\_4\_0 (consulted on 8 June 2011).

EUCJ, Press Release N. 40/11, Judgement in Case C-61/11 PPU, Hassen El

Dridi alias Soufi Karim, Luxembourg, 28 April 2011.

European Civil Liberties Network, *Oppose the «Stockholm Programme»: Statement by the European Civil Liberties Network on the New EU Five-year pPan on Justice and Home Affairs*, April 2009, available at http://www.ecln.org/ECLN-statement-on-Stockholm-Programme-April-2009-eng.pdf (consulted on 15 May 2011).

FRONTEX, News release: Irregular immigration hits net low in first quarter of 2010, facilitator detections up 13%, 7 July 2010.

Guéant vise 28.000 expulsions d'immigrés clandestins pour 2011, in «Le Nouvel Observateur», 26 March 2011, available at http://tempsreel.nouvelobs.com/actualite/politique/20110326.OBS0294/gueant-vise-28-000-expulsions-d-immigres-clandestins-pour-2011.html (consulted on 30 April 2011).

La Cimade, *Quand le système de renvoi des étrangers se fissure*, 25 May 2011, available at http://www.cimade.org/nouvelles/3281-Quand-le-syst-me-de-renvoi-des—trangers-se-fissure (consulted on 3 June 2011).

- Melting Pot, *Pubblicato il decreto legge sui rimpatri. Irregolari nei CIE fino a 18 mesi*, 24 June 2011, available at http://www.meltingpot.org/articolo-16880. html (consulted on 25 June 2011).
- Monar, J., *The Human Rights Dimension of the Eu's Area of Fredom, Security and Justice*, Power Point presentation, European Inter-University Centre for Human Rights and Democratisation, Venice, 27 September 2010.
- Narrative and Legitimation in the Criminalization of Immigrants, 2011, available at http://brokenfence.wordpress.com/2011/01/21/narrative-and-legitimation-in-the-criminalization-of-immigrants/ (consulted on 3 June 2011).
- Pieter Boeles's contribution to the International Workshop: Countering New Legislative Proposals Criminalizing Undocumented Migrants in The Netherlands: Building on Experiences of Resistance Throughout Europe Rotterdam, Netherlands, Friday 27 May 2011.
- Prejudicial procedure C-61/11 (PPU) El Dridi Hassen, Hearing of 30 March 2011, 10.30, El Dridi's Defense.
- Solidar, Irregular Migrants Have Rights: Solidar Position on the European Commission Communication on Illegal Immigration: A Rights-based Approach to the Question of Irregular Migration, 2006, available at http://cms.horus.be/files/99931/MediaArchive/migration/illegal\_immigration\_communication\_Solidar\_position.pdf (consulted on 25 March 2011).
- Torreblanca, J.I., *Five Reasons Why Europe Is Cracking*, in «El Pais», 15 May 2011, available at http://www.elpais.com/articulo/internacional/Five/reasons/why/Europe/is/cracking/elpepuesp/20110515elpepuint\_1/Tes (consulted on 15 May 2011).
- Ue: «Clandestini non punibili con carcere» Maroni: «Rischio espulsioni impossibili», in «La Repubblica», 28 April 2011, available at http://www.repubblica.it/esteri/2011/04/28/news/corte\_ue\_boccia\_reato\_di\_clandesti\_nit-15471497/?ref=HRER1-1 (consulted on 29 April 2011).

## INTERNET SITES

http://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/policies/immigration/immigration\_intro\_en. htm, DG for Home Affairs.

http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/index\_en.htm, DG for Home Affairs. http://www.eucharter.org/home.php?page\_id=66, Guide of the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union.

http://blogs.ec.europa.eu/malmstrom/college-discussion-on-migration/, Blog of Cecilia Manström, European Commissioner in charge of Home Affairs.

http://www.meltingpot.org/, Melting Pot.

www.penalecontemporaneo.it, Penal Contemporaneo.

http://www.asgi.it/, Associazione per gli Studi Giuridici sull'Immigrazione.

http://www.delinquants-solidaires.org/, French NGOs' campaing against «solidarity crimes.»

http://nopacchettosicurezza.noblogs.org/, Italian blog against the «Security Package.»

http://www.statewatch.org/, Statewatch.

www.ceps.eu, Centre for European Policy Studies.

www.picum.org, Platform for International Cooperation on Undocumented Migrants.

www.crimprev.eu, website of the CRIMPREV project. http://clandestino.eliamep.gr/, website of the CLANDESTINO project. www.libertysecurity.org, website of the CHALLENGE project.

